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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

Statements contained in this report may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause actual results to be materially different from
those expressed or implied in such statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements by words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. You should consider our forward-looking statements in light of
the risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our consolidated financial statements, related
notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report and our other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are made as of the date hereof and the Company assumes no obligation to update or
supplement any forward-looking statements.

Fiscal Quarter End

The Company’s fiscal quarters end on the Sunday closest to the last day of each calendar quarter. For convenience, the fiscal quarters of each year are
referred to as ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. The first fiscal quarter of 2016 began on January 4, 2016 and ended on April 3,
2016; the second and third fiscal quarters of 2016 ended on July 3, 2016 and October 2, 2016, respectively. The first fiscal quarter of 2015 began on
December 29, 2014 and ended on March 29, 2015; the second and third fiscal quarters of 2015 ended on June 28, 2015 and September 27, 2015,
respectively.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Financial Statements.
DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets  
September 30, 

2016  December 31, 2015
 (Unaudited)  

Current assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 107,823  $ 144,785
Receivables, net  93,935  139,206
Restricted cash  34,958  32,528
Prepaid gift card costs  36,728  46,792
Prepaid income taxes  1,966  5,186
Other current assets  5,036  4,212

Total current assets  280,446  372,709
Long-term receivables, net  145,072  160,695
Property and equipment, net  205,230  219,580
Goodwill  697,470  697,470
Other intangible assets, net  765,773  772,949
Deferred rent receivable  88,034  90,030
Other non-current assets, net  18,396  18,417

Total assets  $ 2,200,421  $ 2,331,850

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable  $ 32,625  $ 55,019
Gift card liability  104,201  167,657
Accrued employee compensation and benefits  15,792  25,085
Dividends payable  16,675  17,082
Current maturities of capital lease and financing obligations  14,346  14,320
Accrued advertising  11,875  8,758
Accrued interest payable  4,314  4,257
Other accrued expenses  6,565  6,251

Total current liabilities  206,393  298,429
Long-term debt, net  1,281,873  1,279,473
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities  73,603  84,781
Financing obligations, less current maturities  39,518  42,395
Deferred income taxes, net  252,907  269,469
Deferred rent payable  71,574  69,397
Other non-current liabilities  18,027  20,683

Total liabilities  1,943,895  2,064,627
Commitments and contingencies   
Stockholders’ equity:     

Common stock, $0.01 par value, shares: 40,000,000 authorized; September 30, 2016 - 25,138,172 issued,
18,092,139 outstanding; December 31, 2015 - 25,186,048 issued, 18,535,027 outstanding  251  252
 Additional paid-in-capital  290,365  286,952
 Retained earnings  378,172  351,923
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (107)  (107)

Treasury stock, at cost; shares: September 30, 2016 - 7,046,033; December 31, 2015 - 6,651,021  (412,155)  (371,797)
Total stockholders’ equity  256,526  267,223
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 2,200,421  $ 2,331,850

 See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Revenues:       
Franchise and restaurant revenues  $ 123,259  $ 128,188  $ 380,034  $ 407,774
Rental revenues  30,507  31,221  92,746  93,755
Financing revenues  2,251  3,028  7,019  8,271

Total revenues  156,017  162,437  479,799  509,800
Cost of revenues:       

Franchise and restaurant expenses  41,553  41,984  122,129  145,433
Rental expenses  22,771  23,264  69,032  70,073
Financing expenses  9  504  155  516

Total cost of revenues  64,333  65,752  191,316  216,022
Gross profit  91,684  96,685  288,483  293,778
General and administrative expenses  36,002  41,577  111,937  110,384
Interest expense  15,358  15,434  46,107  46,757
Amortization of intangible assets  2,500  2,500  7,480  7,500
Closure and impairment charges, net  206  (72)  3,932  2,230
Loss (gain) on disposition of assets  113  (2,351)  679  (2,294)
Income before income tax provision  37,505  39,597  118,348  129,201
Income tax provision  (13,232)  (15,340)  (41,703)  (49,635)
Net income  24,273  24,257  76,645  79,566
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:         

Foreign currency translation adjustment  (1)  (14)  —  (26)
Total comprehensive income  $ 24,272  $ 24,243  $ 76,645  $ 79,540

Net income available to common stockholders:         
Net income  $ 24,273  $ 24,257  $ 76,645  $ 79,566

Less: Net income allocated to unvested participating restricted stock  (338)  (316)  (1,103)  (1,042)
Net income available to common stockholders  $ 23,935  $ 23,941  $ 75,542  $ 78,524

Net income available to common stockholders per share:       
Basic  $ 1.33  $ 1.29  $ 4.17  $ 4.19

Diluted  $ 1.33  $ 1.28  $ 4.15  $ 4.16

Weighted average shares outstanding:       
Basic  17,950  18,573  18,099  18,737

Diluted  18,041  18,706  18,201  18,874

         
Dividends declared per common share  $ 0.92  $ 0.875  $ 2.76  $ 2.625

Dividends paid per common share  $ 0.92  $ 0.875  $ 2.76  $ 2.625
 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Nine Months Ended
 September 30,

 2016  2015
Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net income  $ 76,645  $ 79,566

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash flows provided by operating activities:     
Depreciation and amortization  22,924  24,134
Non-cash interest expense  2,400  2,292
Deferred income taxes  (14,852)  (12,512)
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense  8,215  6,312
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation  1,153  4,850
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation  (966)  (4,577)
Closure and impairment charges  1,461  2,230
Loss (gain) on disposition of assets  679  (2,294)
Other  456  (1,303)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable, net  4,312  (95)
Current income tax receivables and payables  (1,138)  5,703
Gift card receivables and payables  (30,355)  (11,816)
Other current assets  (824)  (3,304)
Accounts payable  (1,397)  2,147
Accrued employee compensation and benefits  (9,293)  (4,915)
Accrued interest payable  57  (10,275)
Other current liabilities  2,581  (5,554)

Cash flows provided by operating activities  62,058  70,589
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Additions to property and equipment  (3,543)  (5,765)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  —  10,782
Principal receipts from notes, equipment contracts and other long-term receivables  13,969  16,498
Other  (393)  (274)

Cash flows provided by investing activities  10,033  21,241
Cash flows from financing activities:     

Principal payments on capital lease and financing obligations  (10,391)  (9,711)
Dividends paid on common stock  (50,790)  (49,786)
Repurchase of common stock  (45,010)  (50,010)
Tax payments for restricted stock upon vesting  (2,680)  (3,389)
Proceeds from stock options exercised  1,282  8,426
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation  966  4,577
Change in restricted cash  (2,430)  10,036
Other  —  (91)

Cash flows used in financing activities  (109,053)  (89,948)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (36,962)  1,882
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  144,785  104,004

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 107,823  $ 105,886

Supplemental disclosures:     
Interest paid in cash  $ 51,940  $ 64,094
Income taxes paid in cash  $ 56,734  $ 51,794

 
See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. General
 
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company” or “DineEquity”) have been prepared in accordance

with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.
In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The
operating results for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the twelve months
ending December 31, 2016.

 
The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2015 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date, but does not

include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.
 
These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
 

2. Basis of Presentation
 
The Company’s fiscal quarters end on the Sunday closest to the last day of each calendar quarter. For convenience, the fiscal quarters of each year are

referred to as ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. The first fiscal quarter of 2016 began on January 4, 2016 and ended on April 3,
2016; the second and third fiscal quarters of 2016 ended on July 3, 2016 and October 2, 2016, respectively. The first fiscal quarter of 2015 began on
December 29, 2014 and ended on March 29, 2015; the second and third fiscal quarters of 2015 ended on June 28, 2015 and September 27, 2015,
respectively.

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries that are consolidated in accordance with

U.S. GAAP. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company’s management to make assumptions and estimates that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, if any, at the date of the consolidated financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates are made in the calculation and assessment of the
following: impairment of tangible assets, goodwill and other intangible assets; income taxes; allowance for doubtful accounts and notes receivables; lease
accounting estimates; contingencies; and stock-based compensation. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates based on historical
experience, current conditions and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company adjusts such
estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
3. Accounting Policies

 
Accounting Standards Adopted in the Current Fiscal Year
 
Various updates to accounting guidance became effective in the Company's first fiscal quarter of 2016. The majority of these updates either did not

apply to the Company's operations or will only apply if the activity addressed in the guidance takes place in the future. Adoption of updates that did apply to
the Company's operations did not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

Newly Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in
the statement of cash flows. The new guidance is intended to reduce diversity in practice in how certain transactions are classified in the statement of cash
flows. The Company will be required to adopt the new guidance beginning with its first fiscal quarter of 2018; early adoption is permitted. The Company is
currently assessing the impact that the new guidance will have on its consolidated statements of cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASB issued new guidance on the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments. The new guidance will replace the incurred
loss methodology of recognizing credit losses on financial instruments that is currently required with a methodology that estimates the expected credit loss
on financial instruments and reflects the net amount
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Accounting Policies (Continued)

expected to be collected on the financial instrument. Application of the new guidance may result in the earlier recognition of credit losses as the new
methodology will require entities to consider forward-looking information in addition to historical and current information used in assessing incurred losses.
The Company will be required to adopt the new guidance on a modified retrospective basis beginning with its first fiscal quarter of 2020, with early adoption
permitted in its first fiscal quarter of 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures and whether early adoption will be elected.

In March 2016, the FASB issued new guidance that addresses accounting for certain aspects of share-based payments, including excess tax benefits or
deficiencies, forfeiture estimates, statutory tax withholding and cash flow classification of certain share-based payment activity. The Company will be
required to adopt the new guidance beginning with its first fiscal quarter of 2017. Early adoption is permitted as long as all amendments addressed in the new
guidance are adopted in the same period. The method of adoption varies based on each specific aspect addressed in the new guidance.

The Company believes one impact of the new guidance on its financial statements will be the recording of excess tax benefits or deficiencies in its
provision for income taxes upon adoption of the new guidance instead of the current recording in additional paid-in capital. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of other aspects of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued new guidance with respect to the accounting for leases. The new guidance will require lessees to recognize a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability for virtually all leases, other than leases with a term of 12 months or less, and to provide additional disclosures about leasing
arrangements. Accounting by lessors is largely unchanged from existing accounting guidance. The Company will be required to adopt the new guidance on a
modified retrospective basis beginning with its first fiscal quarter of 2019. Early adoption is permitted.

While the Company is still in the process of evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures, the
Company expects adoption of the new guidance will have a material impact on its Consolidated Balance Sheets due to recognition of the right-of-use asset
and lease liability related to its operating leases. While the new guidance is also expected to impact the measurement and presentation of elements of
expenses and cash flows related to leasing arrangements, the Company does not presently believe there will be a material impact on its Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on revenue recognition, which provides for a single, five-step model to be applied to all
revenue contracts with customers. The new standard also requires additional financial statement disclosures that will enable users to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows relating to customer contracts. Companies have an option to use either a retrospective approach or
cumulative effect adjustment approach to implement the standard. In August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of the new revenue guidance by one
year such that the Company will be required to adopt the new guidance beginning with its first fiscal quarter of 2018. During 2016, the FASB issued three
clarifications on specific topics within the new revenue recognition guidance that did not change the core principles of the guidance originally issued in
May 2014.

This new guidance supersedes nearly all of the existing general revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP as well as most industry-specific revenue
recognition guidance, including guidance with respect to revenue recognition by franchisors. The Company believes the recognition of the majority of its
revenues, including franchise royalty revenues, sales of IHOP pancake and waffle dry mix and retail sales at company-operated restaurants, will not materially
be affected by the new guidance. Additionally, lease rental revenues and financing interest revenue are not within the scope of the new revenue guidance.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures and which method of
adoption will be used.

 
The Company reviewed all other newly issued accounting pronouncements and concluded that they either are not applicable to the Company or are not

expected to have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements as a result of future adoption.
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DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Stockholders' Equity

Dividends
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company paid dividends on common stock of $50.8 million, representing cash dividends of
$0.92 per share declared in the fourth quarter of 2015 and the first and second quarters of 2016. On July 28, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors declared
a third quarter 2016 cash dividend of $0.92 per share of common stock. This dividend was paid on October 7, 2016 to the Company's stockholders of record
at the close of business on September 16, 2016. The Company reported a payable for this dividend of $16.7 million at September 30, 2016.

On October 31, 2016, the Company's Board of Directors declared a fourth quarter 2016 cash dividend of $0.97 per share of common stock, payable on
January 6, 2017 to stockholders of record at close of business on December 16, 2016.

Stock Repurchase Program

In October 2015, the Company's Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the Company to repurchase up to $150 million of
DineEquity common stock (the “2015 Repurchase Program”) on an opportunistic basis from time to time in open market transactions and in privately
negotiated transactions based on business, market, applicable legal requirements and other considerations. The 2015 Repurchase Program, as approved by
the Board of Directors, does not require the repurchase of a specific number of shares and can be terminated at any time. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Company repurchased 525,550 shares of common stock at a cost of $45.0 million under the 2015 Repurchase Program. As of
September 30, 2016, the Company has repurchased a cumulative total of 730,037 shares of common stock under the 2015 Repurchase Program at a total cost
of $62.5 million. As of September 30, 2016, a total of $87.5 million remains available for additional repurchases under the 2015 Repurchase Program.

Treasury Stock

Repurchases of DineEquity common stock are included in treasury stock at the cost of shares repurchased plus any transaction costs. Treasury stock may
be re-issued when stock options are exercised, when restricted stock awards are granted and when restricted stock units settle in stock upon vesting. The cost
of treasury stock re-issued is determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company re-
issued 130,538 shares of treasury stock at a total FIFO cost of $4.7 million.

5. Income Taxes
 

The Company's effective tax rate was 35.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to 38.4% for the nine months ended September
30, 2015. The effective tax rate in 2016 was lower primarily due to application of a lower state tax rate to the deferred tax balances.

 The total gross unrecognized tax benefit as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was $3.7 million and $3.9 million, respectively, excluding
interest, penalties and related tax benefits. The Company estimates the unrecognized tax benefit may decrease over the upcoming 12 months by an amount
up to $1.5 million related to settlements with taxing authorities and the lapse of statutes of limitations. For the remaining liability, due to the uncertainties
related to these tax matters, the Company is unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate as to when cash settlement with a taxing authority will occur.

As of September 30, 2016, accrued interest was $1.0 million and accrued penalties were less than $0.1 million, excluding any related income tax
benefits. As of December 31, 2015, accrued interest was $4.9 million and accrued penalties were less than $0.1 million, excluding any related income tax
benefits. The decrease of $3.9 million of accrued interest is primarily related to resolution of recent audits with taxing authorities. The Company recognizes
interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as a component of its income tax provision recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income.

The Company files federal income tax returns and the Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in various state and foreign
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to federal, state or non-United States tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2011. During the
third quarter of 2016, the Company resolved the appeals process with the Internal Revenue Service related to its examination of the Company’s U.S federal
income tax return for the tax years 2008 to 2010. The reserve previously provided related to the issues under appeal was adequate and did not require any
additional adjustment.

7



Table of Contents
DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. Stock-Based Compensation
 

The following table summarizes the components of stock-based compensation expense included in general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income:

 Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

2016  2015  2016  2015
(In millions)

Total stock-based compensation expense:        
Equity classified awards expense $ 2.6  $ 1.8  $ 8.3  $ 6.4
Liability classified awards expense (0.5)  0.3  0.6  (0.5)

Total pre-tax stock-based compensation expense 2.1  2.1  8.9  5.9
Book income tax benefit (0.7)  (0.8)  (3.3)  (2.2)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 1.4  $ 1.3  $ 5.6  $ 3.7
 

As of September 30, 2016, total unrecognized compensation expense of $14.7 million related to restricted stock and restricted stock units and $4.5
million related to stock options are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.55 years for restricted stock and restricted stock units and
1.51 years for stock options.
 

Equity Classified Awards - Stock Options

The estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was calculated using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The following summarizes the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model:

Risk-free interest rate 1.08%
Weighted average historical volatility 27.1%
Dividend yield 4.05%
Expected years until exercise 4.5
Weighted average fair value of options granted $13.55

Stock option balances as of September 30, 2016 and related activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 were as follows:

  Shares  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in Years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value (in Millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2015  504,462  $ 69.99     
Granted  255,825  90.90     
Exercised  (44,813)  28.61     
Outstanding at September 30, 2016  707,550  79.90  7.4  $ 6.3

Vested at September 30, 2016 and Expected to Vest  661,880  78.94  7.3  $ 6.3

Exercisable at September 30, 2016  353,126  $ 65.44  5.4  $ 6.3
 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the closing stock price of the
Company’s common stock on the last trading day of the third quarter of 2016 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that
would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on September 30, 2016. The aggregate intrinsic value will
change based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock and the number of in-the-money options.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

Equity Classified Awards - Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

Outstanding balances as of September 30, 2016 and activity related to restricted stock and restricted stock units for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 were as follows:

 
Restricted

Stock  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Restricted
Stock Units  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2015  257,594  $ 89.99  35,116  $ 86.30
Granted  85,725  89.26  12,657  90.90
Released  (71,876)  77.95  (14,027)  72.01
Forfeited  (31,472)  92.58  —  —
Outstanding at September 30, 2016  239,971  $ 93.00  33,746  $ 93.97

Liability Classified Awards - Long-Term Incentive Awards

The Company has granted cash long-term incentive awards (“LTIP awards”) to certain employees. Annual LTIP awards vest over a three-year period and
are determined using a multiplier from 0% to 200% of the target award based on the total stockholder return of DineEquity common stock compared to the
total stockholder returns of a peer group of companies. Although LTIP awards are only paid in cash, since the multiplier is based on the price of the
Company's common stock, the awards are considered stock-based compensation in accordance with U.S. GAAP and are classified as liabilities. For the three
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, a credit of $0.5 million and an expense of $0.3 million, respectively, were included in total stock-based
compensation expense related to LTIP awards. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, an expense of $0.6 million and a credit of $0.5
million, respectively, were included in total stock-based compensation expense related to LTIP awards. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
liabilities of $2.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively, related to LTIP awards were included as part of accrued employee compensation and benefits in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

7. Segments
 

The Company has four operating segments: franchise operations (an aggregation of Applebee’s and IHOP franchise operations), rental operations,
company-operated restaurant operations and financing operations. The Company views all operating segments as reportable segments regardless of whether
any segment exceeds 10% of consolidated revenues, segment profit or total assets.
 

As of September 30, 2016, the franchise operations segment consisted of (i) 2,027 restaurants operated by Applebee’s franchisees in the United States,
two U.S. territories and 15 countries outside the United States and (ii) 1,699 restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United States,
three U.S. territories and 10 countries outside the United States. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of
proprietary products to franchisees (primarily pancake and waffle dry mixes for the IHOP restaurants), franchise advertising fees from domestic IHOP
restaurants and international restaurants of both brands and franchise fees.  Franchise operations expenses include advertising expenses from domestic IHOP
restaurants and international restaurants of both brands, the cost of IHOP proprietary products, IHOP and Applebee's pre-opening training expenses and other
franchise-related costs.

Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are costs
of operating leases and interest expense from capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants. 

At September 30, 2016, the company restaurant operations segment consisted of 10 IHOP company-operated restaurants, all of which are located in the
United States. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-
operated restaurants and include food, labor, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs.

Financing operations revenue primarily consists of interest income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases and sales of equipment
associated with refranchised IHOP restaurants. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment associated with refranchised IHOP
restaurants.
 

9



Table of Contents
DineEquity, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

7. Segments (Continued)

Information on segments is as follows:

 Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015
 (In millions)

Revenues from external customers:         
Franchise operations  $ 119.2  $ 120.1  $ 366.7  $ 364.9
Rental operations  30.5  31.2  92.7  93.8
Company restaurants  4.0  8.1  13.4  42.8
Financing operations  2.3  3.0  7.0  8.3

Total  $ 156.0  $ 162.4  $ 479.8  $ 509.8

         
Interest expense:         
Rental operations  $ 2.9  $ 3.3  $ 9.0  $ 10.1
Company restaurants  0.1  0.1  0.3  0.3
Corporate  15.4  15.4  46.1  46.8
Total  $ 18.4  $ 18.8  $ 55.4  $ 57.2

         
Depreciation and amortization:         
Franchise operations  $ 2.7  $ 2.6  $ 7.9  $ 7.8
Rental operations  3.1  3.2  9.4  9.6
Company restaurants  0.1  0.1  0.3  0.5
Corporate  1.5  2.4  5.3  6.2

Total  $ 7.4  $ 8.3  $ 22.9  $ 24.1

         
Gross profit, by segment:         
Franchise operations  $ 81.9  $ 86.8  $ 258.7  $ 262.0
Rental operations  7.7  8.0  23.7  23.7
Company restaurants  (0.2)  (0.6)  (0.7)  0.3
Financing operations  2.3  2.5  6.8  7.8

Total gross profit  91.7  96.7  288.5  293.8
Corporate and unallocated expenses, net  (54.2)  (57.1)  (170.2)  (164.6)

Income before income tax provision  $ 37.5  $ 39.6  $ 118.3  $ 129.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

8. Net Income per Share

The computation of the Company's basic and diluted net income per share is as follows:

Three months ended
September 30,  

Nine months ended
September 30,

2016  2015  2016  2015
(In thousands, except per share data)

Numerator for basic and diluted income per common share:        
Net income $ 24,273  $ 24,257  $ 76,645  $ 79,566

Less: Net income allocated to unvested participating restricted stock (338)  (316)  (1,103)  (1,042)
Net income available to common stockholders - basic 23,935  23,941  75,542  78,524

Effect of unvested participating restricted stock in two-class calculation 1  1  3  3
Net income available to common stockholders - diluted $ 23,936  $ 23,942  $ 75,545  $ 78,527

Denominator:        
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock - basic 17,950  18,573  18,099  18,737

Dilutive effect of stock options 91  133  102  137
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock - diluted 18,041  18,706  18,201  18,874

Net income per common share:        
Basic $ 1.33  $ 1.29  $ 4.17  $ 4.19

Diluted $ 1.33  $ 1.28  $ 4.15  $ 4.16
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Company does not have a material amount of financial assets or liabilities that are required under U.S. GAAP to be measured on a recurring basis at
fair value. The Company is not a party to any derivative financial instruments. The Company does not have a material amount of non-financial assets or non-
financial liabilities that are required under U.S. GAAP to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company has not elected to use the fair value
measurement option, as permitted under U.S. GAAP, for any assets or liabilities for which fair value measurement is not presently required.

 
The Company believes the fair values of cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying amounts due to their

short duration.
 

The fair values of the Company's Series 2014-1 Class A-2 Notes (the “Class A-2 Notes”) at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were as follows:

 September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015

 
Carrying
Amount  Fair Value  

Carrying
Amount  Fair Value

 (In millions)

Long-term debt  $ 1,281.9  $ 1,321.2  $ 1,279.5  $ 1,306.1

 The fair values were determined based on Level 2 inputs, including information gathered from brokers who trade in the Company’s Class A-2 Notes and
information on notes that are similar to those of the Company.

10. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Litigation, Claims and Disputes
 

The Company is subject to various lawsuits, administrative proceedings, audits and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these
lawsuits purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. The Company is required under U.S. GAAP to record an accrual for litigation loss
contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable. Legal fees and expenses associated with the defense of all of the Company's litigation are
expensed as such fees and expenses are incurred. Management regularly assesses the Company's insurance coverage, analyzes litigation information with the
Company's attorneys and evaluates the Company's loss experience in connection with pending legal proceedings. While the Company does not presently
believe that any of the legal proceedings to which it is currently a party will ultimately have a material adverse impact on the Company, there can be no
assurance that the Company will prevail in all the proceedings the Company is party to, or that the Company will not incur material losses from them.

Lease Guarantees
 

In connection with the sale of Applebee’s restaurants or previous brands to franchisees and other parties, the Company has, in certain cases, guaranteed or
has potential continuing liability for lease payments totaling $372.5 million as of September 30, 2016. This amount represents the maximum potential
liability for future payments under these leases. These leases have been assigned to the buyers and expire at the end of the respective lease terms, which range
from 2016 through 2048. In the event of default, the indemnity and default clauses in the sale or assignment agreements govern the Company's ability to
pursue and recover damages incurred. No material lease payment guarantee liabilities have been recorded as of September 30, 2016.

11. Facility Exit Costs

In September 2015, the Company approved a plan to consolidate many core restaurant and franchisee support functions at its headquarters in Glendale,
California and communicated the plan to employees. In conjunction with this action, the Company will exit a significant portion of the Applebee's restaurant
support center in Kansas City, Missouri. The Company estimates it will incur a total of approximately $7 million in employee termination benefits, primarily
severance and relocation costs, associated with the consolidation, of which $5.8 million has been incurred through September 30, 2016. The Company also
estimates it will incur approximately $4 million in costs related to the exit of the facility, of which $2.5 million has been incurred through September 30,
2016.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

11. Facility Exit Costs (Continued)

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company incurred $1.2 million of employee termination costs, primarily relocation and
severance costs associated with the consolidation. These charges were included as general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company negotiated the termination of its lease on two of four floors of the Kansas City facility

and recorded charges of $2.5 million related to this termination that were included as closure and impairment charges in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income.

  
Employee

Termination Costs  Facility Costs  Total Exit Costs

  (In millions )

Accrued exit costs at December 31, 2014  $ —  $ —  $ —
Charges  4.6  —  4.6
Payments  (1.1)  —  (1.1)
Accrued exit costs at December 31, 2015  3.5  —  3.5
Charges  1.2  2.5  3.7
Payments  (4.4)  (2.5)  (6.9)
Accrued exit costs at September 30, 2016  $ 0.3  $ —  $ 0.3

At September 30, 2016, the $0.3 million of accrued termination costs was included in accrued employee compensation and benefits. At December 31,
2015, $3.3 million of accrued termination costs was included in accrued employee compensation and benefits and $0.2 million was included in other accrued
expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

Statements contained in this report may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause actual results to be materially different from
those expressed or implied in such statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements by words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. You should consider our forward-looking statements in light of
the risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our consolidated financial statements, related
notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report and our other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are made as of the date hereof and the Company assumes no obligation to update or
supplement any forward-looking statements.

You should read the following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements and the related notes that appear elsewhere in this report.

Business Overview
 

The following discussion and analysis provides information which we believe is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our consolidated results
of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and MD&A contained in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Except where the context indicates otherwise, the words “we,” “us,”
“our,” “DineEquity” and the “Company” refer to DineEquity, Inc., together with its subsidiaries that are consolidated in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).

 
Through various subsidiaries, we own and franchise the Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar® (“Applebee's”) concept in the bar and grill segment

within the casual dining category of the restaurant industry, and we own, franchise and operate the International House of Pancakes® (“IHOP”) concept in the
family dining category of the restaurant industry. References herein to Applebee's® and IHOP® restaurants are to these two restaurant concepts, whether
operated by franchisees, area licensees and their sub-licensees (collectively, “area licensees”) or by us. With over 3,700 restaurants combined, virtually all of
which are franchised, we believe we are one of the largest full-service restaurant companies in the world. The June 20, 2016 issue of Nation's Restaurant
News reported that IHOP and Applebee's were the largest restaurant systems in the family dining and casual dining categories, respectively, in terms of United
States system-wide sales for 2015. This marks the ninth consecutive year our two brands have achieved the number one ranking in their respective categories
in Nation's Restaurant News.

Key Performance Indicators

In evaluating the performance of each restaurant concept, we consider the key performance indicators to be net franchise restaurant development and the
percentage change in domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales. Since we are a 99% franchised company, expanding the number of Applebee's and IHOP
franchise restaurants is an important driver of revenue growth. Growth in both the number of franchise restaurants and sales at those restaurants will drive
franchise revenues in the form of higher royalty revenues, additional franchise fees and, in the case of IHOP restaurants, sales of proprietary pancake and
waffle dry mix.
 
An overview of these key performance indicators for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 is as follows:

 Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

 Applebee's  IHOP  Applebee's  IHOP
Net franchise restaurant development (reduction) (1) —  14  (6)  26
% (decrease) increase in domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales (5.2)%  (0.1)%  (4.4)%  0.5%

________________________________
(1) Franchise and area license restaurant openings, net of closings

Detailed information on each of these key performance indicators is presented under the captions “Restaurant Development Activity,” “Domestic Same-
Restaurant Sales” and “Restaurant Data” that follow.
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 Restaurant Development Activity Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

2016  2015  2016  2015
Applebee's (Unaudited)

Summary - beginning of period:        
Franchise 2,027  1,993  2,033  1,994
Company restaurants —  23  —  23

Total Applebee's restaurants, beginning of period 2,027  2,016  2,033  2,017

        
Franchise restaurants opened:        

Domestic 6  7  13  17
International 3  2  7  6

Total franchise restaurants opened 9  9  20  23
Franchise restaurants closed:        

Domestic (8)  (6)  (20)  (14)
International (1)  (1)  (6)  (8)

Total franchise restaurants closed (9)  (7)  (26)  (22)
Net franchise restaurant development (reduction) —  2  (6)  1
Refranchised from Company restaurants —  23  —  23
Net franchise restaurant additions (reductions) —  25  (6)  24

        
Summary - end of period:        

Franchise 2,027  2,018  2,027  2,018
Company restaurants —  —  —  —

Total Applebee's restaurants, end of period 2,027  2,018  2,027  2,018

IHOP        
Summary - beginning of period:        

Franchise 1,519  1,479  1,507  1,472
Area license 166  166  165  167
Company 10  13  11  11

Total IHOP restaurants, beginning of period 1,695  1,658  1,683  1,650

        
Franchise/area license restaurants opened:        

Domestic franchise 7  11  26  24
Domestic area license 1  —  3  2
International franchise 8  2  11  5

Total franchise/area license restaurants
opened 16  13  40  31

Franchise/area license restaurants closed:        
Domestic franchise (2)  (4)  (10)  (11)
Domestic area license —  —  (1)  (3)
International franchise —  —  (3)  —

Total franchise/area license restaurants
closed (2)  (4)  (14)  (14)

Net franchise/area license restaurant development 14  9  26  17
Refranchised from Company restaurants —  2  1  3
Franchise restaurants reacquired by the Company —  —  —  (3)
Net franchise/area license restaurant additions 14  11  27  17

        
Summary - end of period:        

Franchise 1,532  1,490  1,532  1,490
Area license 167  166  167  166
Company 10  11  10  11

Total IHOP restaurants, end of period 1,709  1,667  1,709  1,667

Gross development by Applebee's franchisees for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was equal to the same period of the prior year, while gross
development by Applebee's franchisees for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was lower than the same period of 2015. Applebee's net development
for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was lower than the same respective periods of the prior year due to a slight increase in the
number of Applebee's restaurant closures.
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Both the gross and net development by IHOP franchisees for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was higher than the respective periods
of 2015. The increases primarily were due to higher gross and net development by international IHOP franchisees. On a combined basis, DineEquity gross
and net franchise restaurant development for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was higher than the respective periods of the prior year.

For the full year of 2016, we expect IHOP franchisees to open a total of 65 to 77 new restaurants and Applebee's franchisees to open a total of 25 to 33
new restaurants. The majority of openings for each brand is expected to be in domestic markets. The actual number of openings in 2016 may differ from both
our expectations and development commitments. Historically, the actual number of restaurants developed in a particular year has been less than the total
number committed to be developed due to various factors, including economic conditions and franchisee noncompliance with restaurant opening
commitments in development agreements. The timing of new restaurant openings also may be affected by other factors including weather-related and other
construction delays, difficulties in obtaining timely regulatory approvals and the impact of currency fluctuations on our international franchisees.

Domestic Same-Restaurant Sales

We believe that, while the U.S. economy has continued to grow in 2016, the rate of growth has been slower than in 2015 and average wages have grown
at a slower pace than the overall economy. In addition, restaurants have been faced with increased competition from prepared food retailers and a widening
gap between the cost of food purchased for consumption at home and the cost of food purchased at restaurants. As a result, consumers seem to be allocating
less disposable personal income to restaurant visits. Based on data from Black Box Intelligence (“Black Box”), a restaurant sales reporting firm, the third
quarter of 2016 was the weakest quarter for the overall restaurant industry since the second quarter of 2010.

 
Applebee’s domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales decreased 5.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from the same period in 2015.

The decrease resulted from a decline in customer traffic that was only partially offset by a higher average customer check. The decline in Applebee's quarter-
over-quarter customer traffic has grown progressively larger from the first quarter of 2015 to the third quarter of 2016. We made an incremental investment of
$2.5 million during the third quarter of 2016 to test additional marketing initiatives to help address that trend.

Applebee’s domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales decreased 4.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from the same period in 2015,
also due to a decline in customer traffic that was only partially offset by a higher average customer check. Same-restaurant sales for the first nine months of
2016 are not necessarily indicative of results expected for the full year.

Based on data from Black Box, the casual dining segment of the restaurant industry also experienced a decline in customer traffic and an overall decline
in same-restaurant sales during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the respective periods of the prior year. Applebee's declines
in traffic and same-restaurant sales were larger than those experienced by the overall casual dining segment.
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IHOP’s domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales decreased 0.1% for the three months ended September 30, 2016 from the same period in 2015, the
first quarterly decrease in comparative same-restaurant sales for IHOP since the first quarter of 2013. The decrease resulted from a decline in customer traffic
that was nearly offset by an increase in average customer check. IHOP's quarter-over-quarter customer traffic has decreased for the past four quarters after
increasing in the five consecutive quarters from the third quarter of 2014 to the third quarter of 2015. IHOP's domestic system-wide same-restaurant sales
increased 0.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from the same period in 2015, due to a higher average customer check, partially offset by a
decrease in customer traffic. Same-restaurant sales for the first nine months of 2016 are not necessarily indicative of results expected for the full year.

Based on data from Black Box, the family dining segment of the restaurant industry experienced an increase in same-restaurant sales during both the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same respective periods of the prior year, due to a higher average customer check partially
offset by a decrease in customer traffic. IHOP's increase in same-restaurant sales was greater than that of the family dining segment as reported by Black Box
for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. IHOP's decrease in customer traffic was greater than that of the family dining segment for the three months
ended September 30, 2016, while IHOP's decrease in customer traffic was the same as that of the family dining segment for the nine months ended September
30, 2016.

As reported by Black Box, customer traffic declined for the overall restaurant industry as well as for both the casual dining and family dining segments of
the restaurant industry during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. With respect to both our brands, a decline in customer traffic may be
offset in the short term by an increase in average customer check resulting from an increase in menu prices, a favorable change in product sales mix, or a
combination thereof. A sustained decline in same-restaurant customer traffic that cannot be offset by an increase in average customer check could have an
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition due to, among other things, reduced royalty revenues, higher bad debt expense
resulting from the failure or inability of franchisees to pay amounts owed to us when due, and a possible decline in the number of franchise restaurants
because of reduced development or restaurant closures.

We strive to identify and create opportunities for growth in customer traffic and frequency, average check and same-restaurant sales. We focus on
building our brands with a long-term view through a strategic combination of menu, media, remodel and development initiatives to continually innovate and
evolve both brands. To drive each brand forward, we seek to innovate and remain actively focused on driving sustainable sales and traffic.
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Restaurant Data
 

The following table sets forth the number of “Effective Restaurants” in the Applebee’s and IHOP systems and information regarding the percentage
change in sales at those restaurants compared to the same periods in the prior year. Sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not
attributable to the Company and, as such, the percentage change in sales at Effective Restaurants is based on non-GAAP sales data. However, we believe that
presentation of this information is useful in analyzing our revenues because franchisees and area licensees pay us royalties and advertising fees that are
generally based on a percentage of their sales, and, where applicable, rental payments under leases that partially may be based on a percentage of their sales.
Management also uses this information to make decisions about future plans for the development of additional restaurants as well as evaluation of current
operations.

—

 Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015
Applebee's Restaurant Data  (Unaudited)

Effective Restaurants(a)         
Franchise  2,028  2,011  2,029  1,998
Company  —  5  —  17

Total  2,028  2,016  2,029  2,015
System-wide(b)         

Sales percentage change(c)  (5.1)%  0.4 %  (4.5)%  2.1%
Domestic same-restaurant sales percentage change(d)  (5.2)%  (0.5)%  (4.4)%  1.2%

         
Franchise(b)         

Sales percentage change(c)  (4.9)%  1.2 %  (3.7)%  2.3%
Domestic same-restaurant sales percentage change(d)  (5.2)%  0.5 %  (4.4)%  1.2%
Average weekly domestic unit sales (in thousands)  $ 43.5  $ 45.9  $ 46.2  $ 48.6

         
IHOP Restaurant Data         
         
Effective Restaurants(a)         

Franchise  1,521  1,482  1,512  1,474
Area license  167  166  165  167
Company  10  12  11  13

Total  1,698  1,660  1,688  1,654

         
System-wide(b)         

Sales percentage change(c)  1.3 %  7.0 %  2.0 %  6.8%
Domestic same-restaurant sales percentage change(d)  (0.1)%  5.8 %  0.5 %  5.6%

Franchise(b)         
Sales percentage change(c)  1.4 %  6.8 %  2.2 %  6.5%
Domestic same-restaurant sales percentage change(d)  (0.1)%  5.8 %  0.5 %  5.6%
Average weekly domestic unit sales (in thousands)  $ 37.1  $ 37.6  $ 37.5  $ 37.6

Area License(b)         
Sales percentage change(c)  2.4 %  8.0 %  1.1 %  7.6%

 
(a)   “Effective Restaurants” are the weighted average number of restaurants open in a given fiscal period, adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the period.

Information is presented for all Effective Restaurants in the Applebee’s and IHOP systems, which consist of restaurants owned by franchisees and area licensees as well as
those owned by the Company.

 
(b)   “System-wide sales” are retail sales at Applebee’s restaurants operated by franchisees and IHOP restaurants operated by franchisees and area licensees, as reported to the

Company, in addition to retail sales at company-operated restaurants.  Sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company.
An increase in franchisees' reported sales will result in a corresponding increase in our royalty revenue, while a decrease in franchisees' reported sales will result in a
corresponding decrease in our royalty revenue.Unaudited reported sales for Applebee's domestic franchise restaurants, IHOP franchise restaurants and IHOP area license
restaurants were as follows:
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 Three months ended September 30,  Nine months ended September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015
Reported sales (In millions)

 (Unaudited)

        
Applebee's domestic franchise restaurant sales $ 1,058.9  $ 1,113.2  $ 3,382.1  $ 3,513.8
IHOP franchise restaurant sales 734.3  724.5  2,208.6  2,160.9
IHOP area license restaurant sales 71.0  69.4  216.5  214.2

Total $ 1,864.2  $ 1,907.1  $ 5,807.2  $ 5,888.9
 

(c)   “Sales percentage change” reflects, for each category of restaurants, the percentage change in sales in any given fiscal period compared to the prior fiscal period for all
restaurants in that category.

 
(d)   “Domestic same-restaurant sales percentage change” reflects the percentage change in sales in any given fiscal period, compared to the same weeks in the prior fiscal period, for

domestic restaurants that have been operated throughout both fiscal periods that are being compared and have been open for at least 18 months. Because of new restaurant
openings and restaurant closures, the domestic restaurants open throughout both fiscal periods being compared may be different from period to period. Domestic same-
restaurant sales percentage change does not include data on IHOP area license restaurants.  

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015

Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Results

Refranchising of 23 Applebee's Company-operated Restaurants

In July 2015, we completed the refranchising and sale of related restaurant assets of 23 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants in the Kansas City,
Missouri market area. As the result of this transaction, we only recognized royalty revenues from these 23 restaurants in 2016, whereas in 2015 we recognized
restaurant revenues and operating costs prior to the refranchising and royalty revenues thereafter. The impact of this refranchising on our consolidated
revenue and gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was as follows:

  
Three months ended

September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Impact  

Nine months ended
September 30,  Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Impact  2016  2015  2016  2015  

Company restaurant revenue  $ —  $ 3.0  $ (3.0)  $ —  $ 27.5  $ (27.5)
Royalty revenue  0.4  0.3  0.1  1.3  0.3  1.0
Total revenue impact  0.4  3.3  (2.9)  1.3  27.8  (26.5)
Operating costs  —  3.1  3.1  —  26.0  26.0
Gross profit impact  $ 0.4  $ 0.2  $ 0.2  $ 1.3  $ 1.8  $ (0.5)

Consolidation of Kansas City Restaurant Support Center

In September 2015, we announced a strategic decision to consolidate many core Applebee's restaurant and franchisee support functions and relocate
them from Kansas City, Missouri to our Glendale, California headquarters. In conjunction with this action, we estimate we will incur a total of approximately
$9 million in employee termination costs and in other personnel-related costs, primarily recruiting costs, associated with this consolidation. We estimate we
will incur approximately $5 million in costs related to the reduction in our space requirements at the Kansas City facility, primarily facility exit costs and
increased depreciation charges. We expect the consolidation process to be complete by the end of 2016.

During the second quarter of 2016, we negotiated the termination of our lease on two of four floors of the Kansas City facility and recorded charges of
$2.5 million related to this termination as part of closure and impairment costs in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Remaining Kansas
City employees will be consolidated to a single floor. We expect to record an additional charge of approximately $1 million once the remaining space we
will no longer occupy is available for sublease, which is estimated to be in the fourth quarter of 2016.
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Costs incurred related to the consolidation for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, as well as cumulative costs incurred are as follows:

  
Three months ended

September 30,

 

Nine months ended
September 30,  

Cumulative to
September 30,

  2016  2015 2016  2015  2016

  (In millions)

Termination benefits and other personnel-related costs  $ 0.3  $ 3.3  $ 2.6  $ 3.3  $ 7.5
Facility costs:           

Lease termination costs  —  —  2.5  —  2.5
Depreciation  —  0.3  0.2  0.3  1.2

Total facility costs  —  0.3  2.7  0.3  3.7
Total consolidation costs  $ 0.3  $ 3.6  $ 5.3  $ 3.6  $ 11.2

Adjustment to Deferred Tax Liabilities

As a result of the consolidation action discussed above, our estimated state tax rate that will be effective when temporary book/tax differences are
realized in the future will be lower than the effective state tax rate that was used to record net deferred tax liabilities when the temporary book/tax differences
arose. Primarily because of this lower rate, we reduced deferred tax liabilities and our 2016 income tax provision by approximately $2.0 million during the
second quarter of 2016. This change lowered our combined effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from what would have been
36.9%, without the adjustment, to 35.2%.

Financial Results

Overview  
Three months ended

September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance  

Nine months ended
September 30,  Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Variance  2016  2015  2016  2015  

  (In millions, except per share data)

Gross profit  $ 91.7  $ 96.7  $ (5.0)  $ 288.5  $ 293.8  $ (5.3)
General and administrative expenses  36.0  41.6  5.6  111.9  110.4  (1.5)
Other expense and income items, net  18.2  15.5  (2.7)  58.3  54.2  (4.1)
Income before income taxes  37.5  39.6  (2.1)  118.3  129.2  (10.9)
Income tax provision  (13.2)  (15.3)  2.1  (41.7)  (49.6)  7.9
Net income  $ 24.3  $ 24.3  $ 0.0  $ 76.6  $ 79.6  $ (3.0)

Change vs. prior period  0.0%      (3.8)%     

      
% increase
(decrease)      

% increase
(decrease)

Net income per diluted share  $ 1.33  $ 1.28  3.9 %  $ 4.15  $ 4.16  (0.2)%

Weighted average shares  18.0  18.7  (3.7)%  18.2  18.9  (3.7)%

Our net income for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was essentially the same as in the third quarter of 2015. Our general and administrative
expenses (“G&A”) and our effective tax rate were lower in 2016, but these favorable items were offset by a decrease in gross profit and a loss on disposition of
assets in 2016 compared to a gain on disposition of assets in 2015. The reasons for these changes are discussed in detail in the respective sections that follow.
Despite flat earnings, our net income per diluted share for the three months ended September 30, 2016 increased compared with the same period of the prior
year due to a smaller number of weighted average shares outstanding.

Our net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 declined $3.0 million compared with the same period of the prior year. The decline in net
income was due to a decrease in gross profit, costs of $2.5 million incurred to terminate a lease, a loss on disposition of assets in 2016 compared to a gain on
disposition of assets in 2015 and an increase in G&A expenses. These unfavorable items were only partially offset by a lower effective tax rate. The reasons
for these changes are discussed in detail in the respective sections that follow. However, the percentage decrease in net income per diluted share compared
with the same period of the prior year was substantially less than the percentage decrease in net income due to a smaller number of weighted average shares
outstanding.

The weighted average shares outstanding for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 decreased primarily due to our repurchase of
approximately 800,000 shares of stock pursuant to stock repurchase programs over the past twelve months.
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Revenue  
Three months ended

September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance  

Nine months ended
September 30,  Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Variance  2016  2015  2016  2015  

  (In millions)

Franchise operations  $ 119.2  $ 120.1  $ (0.9)  $ 366.7  $ 364.9  $ 1.8
Rental operations  30.5  31.2  (0.7)  92.7  93.8  (1.1)
Company restaurant operations  4.0  8.1  (4.1)  13.4  42.8  (29.4)
Financing operations  2.3  3.0  (0.7)  7.0  8.3  (1.3)
Total revenue  $ 156.0  $ 162.4  $ (6.4)  $ 479.8  $ 509.8  $ (30.0)

Change vs. prior period  (4.0)%      (5.9)%     

 Total revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 decreased compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily because of
the refranchising and sale of related restaurant assets of 23 Applebee's company-operated restaurants in the Kansas City area in July 2015, decreases in
Applebee's domestic same-restaurant sales and the expected progressive decline in interest revenue from rental and financing operations as receivable
balances are repaid. These unfavorable factors were partially offset by IHOP franchisee restaurant development over the past twelve months.
 

Gross Profit (Loss)  Three months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 Nine months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance 2016  2015   2016  2015  
 (In millions)

Franchise operations  $ 81.9  $ 86.8  $ (4.9)  $ 258.7  $ 262.0  $ (3.3)
Rental operations  7.7  8.0  (0.3)  23.7  23.7  0.0
Company restaurant operations  (0.2)  (0.6)  0.4  (0.7)  0.3  (1.0)
Financing operations  2.3  2.5  (0.2)  6.8  7.8  (1.0)
Total gross profit  $ 91.7  $ 96.7  $ (5.0)  $ 288.5  $ 293.8  $ (5.3)

Change vs. prior period  (5.2)%      (1.8)%     

The decrease in total gross profit for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared with the same period of the prior year was primarily due to a
$2.5 million franchisor contribution to the Applebee's marketing fund, a 5.2% decrease in Applebee's domestic same-restaurant sales and a decline in rental
and financing interest income as receivable balances are repaid. These unfavorable items were partially offset by favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix
and IHOP franchise development over the past twelve months.

The decrease in total gross profit for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with the same period of the prior year was primarily due to a
4.4% decrease in Applebee's domestic same-restaurant sales, a $2.5 million franchisor contribution to Applebee's marketing fund, lower financing interest
income and the refranchising and sale of related restaurant assets of 23 Applebee's company-operated restaurants in the Kansas City area in July 2015. These
unfavorable factors were partially offset by IHOP franchise development over the past twelve months, favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix and lower
bad debt expense.
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  Three months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 Nine months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

VarianceFranchise Operations  2016  2015   2016  2015  
 (In millions, except number of restaurants)

Effective Franchise Restaurants:(1)             
Applebee’s  2,028  2,011  17  2,029  1,998  31
IHOP  1,688  1,648  40  1,677  1,641  36

Franchise Revenues:         
Applebee’s  $ 46.0  $ 48.6  $ (2.6)  $ 145.5  $ 150.9  $ (5.4)
IHOP  45.5  45.0  0.5  137.5  134.5  3.0
Advertising  27.7  26.5  1.2  83.7  79.5  4.2

Total franchise revenues  119.2  120.1  (0.9)  366.7  364.9  1.8
Franchise Expenses:          

Applebee’s  4.5  1.4  (3.1)  8.1  4.7  (3.4)
IHOP  5.1  5.4  0.3  16.2  18.7  2.5
Advertising  27.7  26.5  (1.2)  83.7  79.5  (4.2)

Total franchise expenses  37.3  33.3  (4.0)  108.0  102.9  (5.1)
Franchise Segment Profit:          

Applebee’s  41.5  47.2  (5.7)  137.4  146.2  (8.8)
IHOP  40.4  39.6  0.8  121.3  115.8  5.5

Total franchise gross profit  $ 81.9  $ 86.8  $ (4.9)  $ 258.7  $ 262.0  $ (3.3)

Gross profit as % of revenue (2)  68.7%  72.3%    70.5%  71.8%   
 _____________________________________________________
(1) Effective Franchise Restaurants are the weighted average number of franchise and area license restaurants open in a given fiscal period, adjusted to account for restaurants open for

only a portion of the period.
(2) Percentages calculated on actual amounts, not rounded amounts presented above.

Applebee’s franchise revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 declined from the same period of the prior year, primarily due to a 5.2%
decrease in domestic same-restaurant sales and a decline in franchise extension fees. Applebee’s franchise revenue for the nine months ended September 30,
2016 declined from the same period of the prior year, primarily because of a 4.4% decrease in domestic same-restaurant sales and lower franchise fees,
partially offset by an increase of $1.0 million of royalty revenues from the 23 refranchised restaurants discussed above.

The increase in IHOP franchise revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to a 2.4% increase in Effective Franchise
Restaurants and favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix sales, partially offset by a decrease in franchise transfer fees. The increase in IHOP franchise
revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to a 2.2% increase in Effective Franchise Restaurants, favorability in pancake and
waffle dry mix sales and a 0.5% increase in franchise domestic same-restaurant sales.

The increases in Applebee's franchise expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with the same periods of the prior year
was primarily due to a $2.5 million franchisor contribution to the Applebee's national advertising fund for marketing-related initiatives, as well as an increase
in bad debt expense.

The decrease in IHOP franchise expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared with the same period of the prior year was primarily
due to favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix. The decrease in IHOP franchise expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared with
the same period of the prior year was primarily due to favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix and a decrease in bad debt expense.

Advertising contributions designated for IHOP’s national advertising fund and local marketing and advertising cooperatives, as well as advertising
contributions from international franchise restaurants of both brands, are recognized as revenue and expense of franchise operations. However, because we
have less contractual control over Applebee’s domestic advertising expenditures, that activity is considered to be an agency relationship and therefore is not
recognized as franchise revenue and expense. The increases in advertising revenue and expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016
were primarily because of the increases in IHOP franchise restaurants as discussed above.

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue declined for three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same respective periods of the
prior year primarily because of the $2.5 million franchisor contribution to the Applebee's national advertising fund as well as the increases in advertising
revenue which generate no incremental gross profit, partially offset by favorability in pancake and waffle dry mix.
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Rental Operations  Three months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 Nine months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance 2016  2015   2016  2015  
 (In millions)

Rental revenues  $ 30.5  $ 31.2  $ (0.7)  $ 92.7  $ 93.8  $ (1.1)
Rental expenses  22.8  23.2  0.4  69.0  70.1  1.1
Rental operations gross profit  $ 7.7  $ 8.0  $ (0.3)  $ 23.7  $ 23.7  $ 0.0

Gross profit as % of revenue (1)  25.4%  25.5%    25.6%  25.3%   
_____________________________________________________
(1) Percentages calculated on actual amounts, not rounded amounts presented above.

Rental operations relate primarily to IHOP franchise restaurants. Rental income includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct
financing leases. Rental expenses are costs of prime operating leases and interest expense on prime capital leases on certain franchise restaurants.

Rental segment revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was lower than the same periods in the prior year primarily due to the
expected progressive declines of $0.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively, in interest income as direct financing leases are repaid, as well as decreases in
rental income based on a percentage of franchisees' retail sales. Rental segment expenses decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016
compared to the same period of the prior year primarily because of the expected progressive decline in interest expense as capital lease obligations are repaid.

Company Restaurant  Three months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 Nine months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance Operations  2016  2015   2016  2015  
  (In millions, except number of restaurants)

Effective Company Restaurants:(1)             
Applebee’s  —  5  (5)  —  17  (17)
IHOP  10  12  (2)  11  13  (2)

             
Company restaurant sales  $ 4.0  $ 8.1  $ (4.1)  $ 13.4  $ 42.8  $ (29.4)
Company restaurant expenses  4.2  8.7  4.5  14.1  42.6  28.4
Company restaurant gross profit  $ (0.2)  $ (0.6)  $ 0.4  $ (0.7)  $ 0.3  $ (1.0)

Gross profit as % of revenue (2)  (3.4)%  (6.8)%   (5.7)%  0.8%   
_____________________________________________________
(1) Effective Company Restaurants are the weighted average number of franchise and area license restaurants open in a given fiscal period, adjusted to account for restaurants open for

only a portion of the period.
(2) Percentages calculated on actual amounts, not rounded amounts presented above.

As discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Information,” above, we refranchised 23 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants in
the Kansas City, Missouri market area in July 2015. Company restaurant revenues and expenses for three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 only
reflect the operation of IHOP company restaurants, whereas restaurant revenues and expenses for three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, reflect the
operation of IHOP company restaurants as well as the 23 Applebee's company restaurants through July, 2015. 

Financing Operations  Three months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 Nine months ended September 30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance 2016  2015   2016  2015  
 

 (In millions)

Financing revenues  $ 2.3  $ 3.0  $ (0.7)  $ 7.0  $ 8.3  $ (1.3)
Financing expenses  0.0  0.5  0.5  0.2  0.5  0.3
Financing operations gross profit  $ 2.3  $ 2.5  $ (0.2)  $ 6.8  $ 7.8  $ (1.0)

Gross profit as % of revenue (1)  99.6%  83.4%   97.8%  93.8%   
_____________________________________________________
(1) Percentages calculated on actual amounts, not rounded amounts presented above.
 

Financing revenues primarily consist of interest income from the financing of equipment leases and franchise fees, as well as sales of equipment
associated with refranchised IHOP restaurants. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment associated with refranchised IHOP
restaurants.
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The decrease in financing revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to the expected progressive decline of
$0.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, in interest revenue as note balances are repaid. The smaller variances in financing revenues and expenses relate to
fewer sales of equipment associated with refranchised IHOP restaurants in 2016 compared to 2015.

General and Administrative Expenses  
Three months ended September

30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 
Nine months ended September

30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance  2016  2015   2016  2015  
 (In millions)

G&A expenses  $ 36.0  $ 41.6  $ 5.6  $ 111.9  $ 110.4  $ (1.5)

The decrease in G&A expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period of the prior year was primarily due to a
decrease of $5.5 million in personnel-related costs and a decrease of $0.9 million in depreciation charges, partially offset by an increase of $1.4 million in
costs of franchisee conferences. The decrease in personnel-related costs was primarily due to two factors: charges of $3.3 million incurred in the third quarter
of 2015 related to the consolidation action discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Information,” above that did not recur in 2016;
and lower costs of incentive compensation in 2016 of $1.9 million. The increase in costs of franchisee conferences was primarily due to the timing of our
brands' franchisee conferences that took place in the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2015.

The increase in G&A expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period of the prior year was primarily due to
increases of $2.5 million in costs of franchisee conferences and $1.4 million in recruiting and relocation costs, partially offset by $1.6 million in lower
personnel-related costs and lower costs for consumer research of $0.6 million. The increase in costs of franchisee conferences was primarily due to the timing
of our brands' franchisee conferences which took place in the third quarter of 2016 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2015. The increase in recruiting and
relocation costs was due to personnel movement associated with the consolidation action discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial
Information,” above. The decrease in personnel-related costs was due primarily to charges of $3.3 million incurred in the third quarter of 2015 related to the
consolidation action discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Information,” above that did not recur in 2016 and lower costs of
incentive compensation in 2016, partially offset by higher costs of stock-based compensation, salary and benefits for several senior management positions
that were open during portions of the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

 Other Expense and Income Items  
Three months ended September

30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance

 
Nine months ended September

30,  Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Variance  2016  2015   2016  2015  
 

 (In millions)

Interest expense  15.4  15.4  0.0  46.1  46.8  0.7
Amortization of intangible assets  2.5  2.5  —  7.5  7.5  0.0
Closure and impairment charges  0.2  (0.1)  (0.3)  4.0  2.2  (1.8)
Loss (gain) on disposition of assets  0.1  (2.3)  (2.4)  0.7  (2.3)  (3.0)

Total  18.2  15.5  (2.7)  58.3  54.2  (4.1)

Closure and Impairment Charges

Both the amount of and the change in closure and impairment charges for the three months ended September 30, 2016 were not significant. The increase
in closure and impairment charges for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to the $2.5 million of lease termination costs related to
the consolidation action discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Information” above, partially offset by a decrease in charges related
to IHOP and Applebee's restaurants. Closure and impairment charges related to restaurants were $1.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016,
comprised of approximately $1.0 million of impairment charges and $0.5 million of closure charges. The largest individually significant impairment charge
of $0.6 million related to one IHOP company-operated restaurant; the closure charges related to adjustments for IHOP and Applebee's restaurants closed in
prior periods.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, closure and impairment charges were $2.2 million, comprised of $1.5 million in closure charges and $0.7

million of impairment charges. Approximately $1.1 million of closure charges related to two IHOP franchise restaurants closed during 2015, with
approximately $0.4 million related to adjustments for IHOP and Applebee's restaurants closed in prior periods. The impairment charges were individually
insignificant charges attributable to eight IHOP company-operated restaurants and one parcel of vacant land.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we performed assessments to determine whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred
which would potentially indicate the carrying value of tangible long-lived assets may not be recoverable. No significant impairments were noted in
performing the assessments. We also considered whether there were any indicators of potential impairment to our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets. No such indicators were noted.

Loss (Gain) on Disposition of Assets

As discussed under “Events Impacting Comparability of Financial Information,” above, in July 2015, we completed the refranchising and sale of related
restaurant assets of 23 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants in the Kansas City area. We received proceeds of approximately $9 million from the sale and
recognized a gain of approximately $2 million on the transaction. There were no other individually significant asset dispositions during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Provision for Income Taxes
 

Our effective tax rate was 35.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2016, as compared to 38.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2015.
The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was lower primarily due to favorable foreign return-to-provision adjustments that
lowered the effective rate for the third quarter of 2016 and an unfavorable adjustment to tax reserves recorded in the third quarter of 2015 that raised the
effective rate for three months ended September 30, 2015.

Our effective tax rate was 35.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to 38.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
The lower rate primarily was due to the adjustment to deferred tax balances as a result of the consolidation action discussed under “Events Impacting
Comparability of Financial Information,” above. This change lowered our combined effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 from
what would have been 36.9%, without the adjustment, to 35.2%.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

At September 30, 2016, our outstanding long-term debt consisted of $1.3 billion of Series 2014-1 4.277% Fixed Rate Senior Notes, Class A-2 (the “Class
A-2 Notes”). We also have a revolving financing facility consisting of Series 2014-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes, Class A-1 (the “Variable Funding
Notes”), which allows for drawings of up to $100 million of Variable Funding Notes and the issuance of letters of credit. The Class A-2 Notes and the
Variable Funding Notes are referred to collectively as the “Notes.” The Notes were issued in a private securitization transaction pursuant to which
substantially all of our domestic revenue-generating assets and our domestic intellectual property are held by certain special-purpose, wholly-owned indirect
subsidiaries of the Company (the “Guarantors”) that act as guarantors of the Notes and that have pledged substantially all of their assets to secure the Notes.

While the Notes are outstanding, payment of principal and interest is required to be made on the Class A-2 Notes on a quarterly basis. The quarterly
principal payment of $3.25 million on the Class A-2 Notes may be suspended when the leverage ratio for the Company and its subsidiaries is less than or
equal to 5.25x. At September 30, 2016, our leverage ratio was 4.61x (see Exhibit 12.1). Our leverage ratio has been less than 5.25x for each quarterly period
since the Notes were issued and accordingly, no payments of principal have been required.

The Variable Funding Notes were not drawn upon at September 30, 2016 and we have not drawn on them since issuance. At September 30, 2016, $5.0
million was pledged against the Variable Funding Notes for outstanding letters of credit, leaving $95.0 million of Variable Funding Notes available for
borrowings. The letters of credit are used primarily to satisfy insurance-related collateral requirements.

The Notes are subject to customary rapid amortization events for similar types of financing, including events tied to our failure to maintain the stated
debt service coverage ratio (“DSCR”), the sum of domestic retail sales for all restaurants being below certain levels on certain measurement dates, certain
manager termination events, certain events of default and the failure to repay or refinance the Notes on the Class A-2 Anticipated Repayment Date in
September 2021. The Notes are also subject to certain customary events of default, including events relating to non-payment of required interest, principal or
other amounts due on or with respect to the Notes, failure to maintain the stated DSCR, failure to comply with covenants within certain time frames, certain
bankruptcy events, breaches of specified representations and warranties and certain judgments.
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Failure to maintain a prescribed DSCR can trigger a Cash Trapping Event, A Rapid Amortization Event, a Manager Termination Event or a Default Event
as described below. In a Cash Trapping Event, the Trustee is required to retain a certain percentage of excess Cash Flow (as defined) in a restricted account. In
a Rapid Amortization Event, all excess Cash Flow is retained and used to retire principal amounts of debt. Key DSCRs are as follows:

• DSCR less than 1.75x but equal to or greater than 1.50x - Cash Trapping Event, 50% of Net Cash Flow
• DSCR less than 1.50x - Cash Trapping Event, 100% of Net Cash Flow
• DSCR less than 1.30x - Rapid Amortization Event
• DSCR less than 1.20x - Manager Termination Event
• DSCR less than 1.10x - Default Event

Our DSCR for the reporting period ended September 30, 2016 was 5.30x (see Exhibit 12.1).

Dividends
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we paid dividends on common stock of $50.8 million, representing cash dividends of $0.92 per share
declared in each of the fourth quarter of 2015 and first and second quarters of 2016. On July 28, 2016, our Board of Directors declared a third quarter 2016
cash dividend of $0.92 per share of common stock. This dividend was paid on October 7, 2016 to the Company's stockholders of record at the close of
business on September 16, 2016. We reported dividends payable of $16.7 million at September 30, 2016.

On October 31, 2016, our Board of Directors declared a fourth quarter 2016 cash dividend of $0.97 per share of common stock, payable on January 6,
2017 to the Company's stockholders of record at the close of business on December 16, 2016. This represents an increase of 5.4% from the cash dividend of
$0.92 per share of common stock we paid in each of the fourth quarter of 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016.

We evaluate dividend payments on common stock within the context of our overall capital allocation strategy with our Board of Directors on an
ongoing basis, giving consideration to our current and forecasted earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors.

Share Repurchases

In October 2015, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing us to repurchase up to $150 million of DineEquity common
stock (the “2015 Repurchase Program”) on an opportunistic basis from time to time in open market transactions and in privately negotiated transactions
based on business, market, applicable legal requirements and other considerations. The 2015 Repurchase Program, as approved by the Board of Directors,
does not require the repurchase of a specific number of shares and can be terminated at any time. A summary of shares repurchased under the 2015
Repurchase Program is as follows:

 Shares  Cost of shares

   (In millions)

Repurchased during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 525,550  $ 45.0
Cumulative repurchases as of September 30, 2016 730,037  $ 62.5
Remaining dollar value of shares that may be repurchased        N/A  $ 87.5

We evaluate repurchases of common stock within the context of our overall capital allocation strategy with our Board of Directors on an ongoing basis,
giving consideration to our current and forecasted earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and other factors. From time to time, we also repurchase
shares owned and tendered by employees to satisfy tax withholding obligations on the vesting of restricted stock awards. Shares are deemed purchased at the
closing price of our common stock on the vesting date. See Part II, Item 2 for detail on share repurchase activity during the third quarter of 2016.
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Cash Flows
 
In summary, our cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

 

 Nine months ended September 30,   
2016  2015  Variance

(In millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 62.1  $ 70.6  $ (8.5)
Net cash provided by investing activities 10.0  21.2  (11.2)
Net cash used in financing activities (109.1)  (89.9)  (19.2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (37.0)  $ 1.9  $ (38.9)
 

Operating Activities

The decrease in cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to net changes in working
capital. Our net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 decreased $2.9 million compared to the same period of 2015, primarily because of a
decrease in gross profit, an increase in closure and impairment charges and G&A expenses and a gain on asset disposition in 2015 that did not recur in 2016,
partially offset by a lower effective tax rate. Each of these factors was discussed in preceding sections of MD&A. Our net income plus the non-cash
reconciling items shown in the statement of cash flows (primarily depreciation, deferred taxes, stock-based compensation items and loss/gain on disposition
of assets) was essentially the same in both periods.

Net changes in working capital used cash of $36.1 million during the first nine months of 2016 compared to cash used of $28.1 million during the first
nine months of 2015, an unfavorable variance of $7.9 million. The unfavorable variance in working capital changes was primarily due to less cash collected
from gift card receivables during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and an increase in advertising funds and marketing accruals, partially offset by a
decrease in cash paid for interest on long-term debt. Each year, a high volume of gift card sales by third-party vendors takes place during the December
holiday season, and collection of the receivables from those sales follows shortly thereafter. We have a 52/53 week fiscal year, and our 2015 fiscal year that
ended January 3, 2016 contained 53 weeks and the fourth fiscal quarter of 2015 contained 14 weeks. Because of this timing, an extra week of higher-volume
holiday gift card collections fell into the fourth fiscal quarter of 2015 as opposed to fiscal 2016.

Under the terms of the Notes issued in the fourth quarter of 2014, our first interest payment, representing five months of accrued interest on the Notes, was
made in the first quarter of 2015. All subsequent quarterly payments of interest, including the payments made in the first three quarters of 2016, represented
three months of accrued interest on the Notes. As a result, we paid nine months of interest during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to
11 months of interest during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Investing Activities
 

Investing activities provided net cash of $10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Principal receipts from notes, equipment contracts
and other long-term receivables of $14.0 million were partially offset by $3.5 million in capital expenditures. Capital expenditures are expected to be
approximately $8 million for fiscal 2016.

Financing Activities
 

Financing activities used net cash of $109.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Cash used in financing activities primarily consisted
of cash dividends paid on our common stock totaling $50.8 million, repurchases of our common stock totaling $45.0 million, repayments of capital lease
obligations of $10.4 million ,an increase in restricted cash of $2.4 million and a net cash outflow of approximately $0.4 million related to equity
compensation awards.

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents

At September 30, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $107.8 million, including $41.5 million of cash held for gift card programs and advertising
funds.

Based on our current level of operations, we believe that our cash flow from operations, available cash and available borrowing capacity under our
Variable Funding Notes will be adequate to meet our liquidity needs for the next twelve months.
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Adjusted Free Cash Flow

We define “adjusted free cash flow” for a given period as cash provided by operating activities, plus receipts from notes and equipment contract
receivables, less additions to property and equipment. Management uses this liquidity measure in its periodic assessment of, among other things, cash
dividends per share of common stock and repurchases of common stock and we believe it is important for investors to have the same measure used by
management for that purpose. Adjusted free cash flow does not represent residual cash flow available for discretionary purposes.

Adjusted free cash flow is considered to be a non-U.S. GAAP measure. Reconciliation of the cash provided by operating activities to adjusted free cash
flow is as follows:

 Nine months ended September 30,   
 2016  2015  Variance

 (In millions)

Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 62.1  $ 70.6  $ (8.5)
Receipts from notes and equipment contracts receivable 7.6  10.8  (3.2)
Additions to property and equipment (3.5)  (5.8)  2.3
Adjusted free cash flow $ 66.2  $ 75.6  $ (9.4)

This non-U.S. GAAP measure is not defined in the same manner by all companies and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other
companies. Non-U.S. GAAP measures should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the U.S. GAAP information contained within our
financial statements.

The decrease in adjusted free cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period of the prior year is primarily due to
the decrease in cash from operating activities discussed above and a decrease in receipts from notes and equipment contract receivables, partially offset by
lower capital expenditures.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 We have obligations for guarantees on certain franchisee lease agreements, as disclosed in Note 10 - Commitments and Contingencies, of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements of Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q. Other than such guarantees, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as
defined in Item 303(a)(4) of SEC Regulation S-K as of September 30, 2016.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
 

There were no material changes to the contractual obligations table as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2015.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and expenses in the reporting period. We base our
estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not
readily apparent from other sources. We continually review the estimates and underlying assumptions to ensure they are appropriate for the circumstances.
Accounting assumptions and estimates are inherently uncertain and actual results may differ materially from our estimates.

 
A summary of our critical accounting estimates is included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, there were no
significant changes in our estimates and critical accounting policies.

 
See Note 3, “Accounting Policies,” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently adopted accounting standards and

newly issued accounting standards.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
 

There were no material changes from the information contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
 

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures.
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
 

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
 

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Part II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings.
 

We are subject to various lawsuits, administrative proceedings, audits and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these lawsuits
purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. We are required to record an accrual for litigation loss contingencies that are both probable and
reasonably estimable. Legal fees and expenses associated with the defense of all of our litigation are expensed as such fees and expenses are incurred.
Management regularly assesses our insurance deductibles, analyzes litigation information with our attorneys and evaluates our loss experience in connection
with pending legal proceedings. While we do not presently believe that any of the legal proceedings to which we are currently a party will ultimately have a
material adverse impact on us, there can be no assurance that we will prevail in all the proceedings we are party to, or that we will not incur material losses
from them.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors.
 

There are no material changes from the risk factors set forth under Item 1A of Part I of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2015.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company

Period  

Total number of
shares

purchased  

Average price
paid per

share  

Total number of
shares purchased as

part of publicly
announced plans or

programs (b)  

Approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be

purchased under the
plans or programs (b)

July 4, 2016 – July 31, 2016  —  —  —  $ 97,500,000
August 1, 2016 – August 28, 2016(a)  12,467  $ 76.40  11,815  $ 96,600,000
August 29, 2016 – October 2, 2016(a)  120,416  $ 77.21  117,844  $ 87,500,000
Total  132,883  $ 77.14  129,659  $ 87,500,000

(a) These amounts include 652 shares owned and tendered by employees at an average price of $75.93 to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising upon vesting of restricted stock
awards during the fiscal month ended August 28, 2016 and 2,572 shares tendered at an average price of $76.95 during the fiscal month ended October 2, 2016.

(b)   In October 2015, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing us to repurchase up to $150 million of DineEquity common stock on an
opportunistic basis from time to time in open market transactions and in privately negotiated transactions, including Rule 10b-5 stock repurchase plans, based on business,
market, applicable legal requirements and other considerations. The program does not require the repurchase of a specific number of shares and can be terminated at any time.

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 

None.
 

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures.
 

Not Applicable.
 

Item 5.  Other Information.
 

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 99.3 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2012 is
incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Amended Bylaws of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2016 is incorporated herein by reference).
*†10.1  DineEquity, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

*12.1
 

Computation of Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the Trailing Twelve Months Ended September 30, 2016 and Leverage Ratio as of
September 30, 2016.

*31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
*31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
*32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.**
*32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.**
101.INS XBRL Instance Document.***

101.SCH XBRL Schema Document.***
101.CAL XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.***
101.DEF XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.***
101.LAB XBRL Label Linkbase Document.***
101.PRE XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.***

*    Filed herewith.
** The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 accompany this Quarterly Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and

shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

***    Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the interactive data files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.

† A contract, compensatory plan or arrangement in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.

31



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

 
DineEquity, Inc.
(Registrant)

    
    

Dated: November 1, 2016 By: /s/ Julia A. Stewart

  

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
    
    

Dated: November 1, 2016 By: /s/ Thomas W. Emrey

  

Thomas W. Emrey
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
    
    

Dated: November 1, 2016 By: /s/ Greggory Kalvin

  

Greggory Kalvin
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Purpose

The purpose of this Plan (formerly known as the IHOP Corp., Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan) is to provide specified
benefits to Directors and a select group of management or highly compensated Employees who contribute materially to the continued
growth, development and future business success of DineEquity, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, if any, that sponsor
this Plan. This Plan shall be unfunded for tax purposes and for purposes of Title I of ERISA. The Plan is amended and restated as set
forth herein, effective for compensation earned on or after January 1, 2017.

This Plan is intended to comply with all applicable law, including Code Section 409A and related Treasury guidance and
Regulations, and shall be operated and interpreted in accordance with this intention. In order to transition to the requirements of Code
Section 409A and related Treasury Regulations, the Committee may make available to Participants certain transition relief provided
under Notice 2006-79, as described more fully in Appendix A of this Plan.

ARTICLE 1 
Definitions

For the purposes of this Plan, unless otherwise clearly apparent from the context, the following phrases or terms shall have the
following indicated meanings:

1.1 “Account Balance” shall mean, with respect to a Participant, an entry on the records of the Employer equal to the sum of the
Participant’s Annual Accounts. The Account Balance shall be a bookkeeping entry only and shall be utilized solely as a device
for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be paid to a Participant, or his or her designated Beneficiary, pursuant
to this Plan.

If a Participant is both an Employee and a Director and participates in the Plan in each capacity, then separate Account
Balances (and separate Annual Accounts, if applicable) shall be established for such Participant as a device for the
measurement and determination of the (a) amounts deferred under the Plan that are attributable to the Participant’s status as an
Employee, and (b) amounts deferred under the Plan that are attributable to the Participant’s status as a Director.

1.2 “Annual Account”shall mean, with respect to a Participant, an entry on the records of the Employer equal to (a) the sum of the
Participant’s Annual Deferral Amount and Company Contribution Amount and for any one Plan Year, plus (b) amounts
credited or debited to such amounts pursuant to this Plan, less (c) all distributions made to the Participant or his or her
Beneficiary pursuant to this Plan that relate to the Annual Account for such Plan Year. The Annual Account shall be a
bookkeeping entry only and shall be utilized solely as a device for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be
paid to a Participant, or his or her designated Beneficiary, pursuant to this Plan.

1.3 “Annual Deferral Amount” shall mean that portion of a Participant’s Base Salary, Bonus, Director Fees, LTI Awards and
LTIP Amounts that a Participant defers in accordance with Article 3 for any one Plan Year, without regard to whether such
amounts are withheld and credited during such Plan Year.

1.4 “Annual Installment Method” shall mean the method used to determine the amount of each payment due to a Participant who
has elected to receive a benefit over a period of years in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Plan. The amount of
each annual payment due to the Participant shall be calculated by multiplying the balance of the Participant’s benefit by a
fraction, the numerator of which is one and the denominator of which is the remaining number of annual payments due to the
Participant. The amount of the first annual payment shall be calculated as of the close of business on or around the Participant’s
Benefit Distribution Date, and the amount of each subsequent annual payment shall be calculated on or around each
anniversary of such Benefit Distribution Date. For purposes of this Plan, the right to receive a benefit payment in annual
installments shall be treated as the entitlement to a single payment.

1.5 “Base Salary” shall mean the annual cash compensation relating to services performed during any calendar year, excluding
distributions from nonqualified deferred compensation plans, bonuses, commissions, overtime, fringe benefits, stock options,
relocation expenses, incentive payments, non-monetary awards, director fees and other fees, and automobile and other
allowances paid to a Participant for employment services rendered (whether or not such allowances are included in the
Employee’s gross income). Base Salary shall be calculated before reduction for compensation voluntarily deferred or
contributed by the Participant pursuant to all qualified or nonqualified plans of any Employer and shall be calculated to include
amounts not otherwise included in the Participant's gross income under Code Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h), or 403(b)
pursuant to plans established by any Employer; provided, however, that all such amounts will be included in compensation
only to the extent that had there been no such plan, the amount would have been payable in cash to the Employee.



1.6 “Beneficiary” shall mean one or more persons, trusts, estates or other entities, designated in accordance with Article 10, that
are entitled to receive benefits under this Plan upon the death of a Participant.

1.7 “Beneficiary Designation Form” shall mean the form established from time to time by the Committee that a Participant
completes, signs and returns to the Committee to designate one or more Beneficiaries.

1.8 “Benefit Distribution Date” shall mean the date upon which all or an objectively determinable portion of a Participant’s
vested benefits will become eligible for distribution. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, a Participant’s Benefit
Distribution Date shall be determined based on the earliest to occur of an event or scheduled date set forth in Articles 4 through
9, as applicable.

1.9 “Board” shall mean the board of directors of the Company.

1.10 “Bonus” shall mean any compensation, in addition to Base Salary, LTI Awards and LTIP Amounts, earned by a Participant
under any Employer's annual bonus and cash incentive plans.

1.11 “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of a “change in the ownership,” a “change in the effective control” or a
“change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of a corporation, as determined in accordance with this Section.

In order for an event described below to constitute a Change in Control with respect to a Participant, except as otherwise
provided in part (b)(ii) of this Section, the applicable event must relate to the corporation for which the Participant is providing
services, the corporation that is liable for payment of the Participant’s Account Balance (or all corporations liable for payment if
more than one), as identified by the Committee in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A- 3(i)(5)(ii)(A)(2), or such other
corporation identified by the Committee in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(ii)(A)(3).

In determining whether an event shall be considered a “change in the ownership,” a “change in the effective control” or a
“change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of a corporation, the following provisions shall apply:

(a) A “change in the ownership” of the applicable corporation shall occur on the date on which any one person, or
more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of stock of such corporation that, together with
stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting
power of the stock of such corporation, as determined in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(v). If a
person or group is considered either to own more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power
of the stock of such corporation, or to have effective control of such corporation within the meaning of part (b)
of this Section, and such person or group acquires additional stock of such corporation, the acquisition of
additional stock by such person or group shall not be considered to cause a “change in the ownership” of such
corporation.

(b) A “change in the effective control” of the applicable corporation shall occur on either of the following dates:

(i)    The date on which any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired
during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons)
ownership of stock of such corporation possessing 30% or more of the total voting power of the stock of such
corporation, as determined in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(vi). If a person or group is
considered to possess 30% or more of the total voting power of the stock of a corporation, and such person or
group acquires additional stock of such corporation, the acquisition of additional stock by such person or group
shall not be considered to cause a “change in the effective control” of such corporation; or

(ii)    The date on which a majority of the members of the applicable corporation’s board of directors is replaced
during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the
members of such corporation’s board of directors before the date of the appointment or election, as determined
in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(vi). In determining whether the event described in the
preceding sentence has occurred, the applicable corporation to which the event must relate shall only include a
corporation identified in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(ii) for which no other corporation is a
majority shareholder.



(c) A “change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of the applicable corporation shall occur on
the date on which any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during
the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent acquisition by such person or persons) assets from the
corporation that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than 40% of the total gross fair market
value of all of the assets of the corporation immediately before such acquisition or acquisitions, as determined in
accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(5)(vii). A transfer of assets shall not be treated as a “change in the
ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” when such transfer is made to an entity that is controlled by the
shareholders of the transferor corporation, as determined in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A- 3(i)(5)(vii)
(B).

1.12 “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time.

1.13 “Committee” shall mean the committee described in Article 13.

1.14 “Company” shall mean DineEquity, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor to all or substantially all of the
Company’s assets or business.

1.15 “Company Contribution Amount” shall mean, for any one Plan Year, the amount determined in accordance with Section
3.4.

1.16 “Director” shall mean any member of the board of directors of any Employer.

1.17 “Director Fees” shall mean the annual fees earned by a Director from any Employer, including retainer fees and meetings fees,
as compensation for serving on the board of directors.

1.18 “Disability” or “Disabled” shall mean that a Participant is either (a) unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by
reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected
to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, or (b) by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental
impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months,
receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than 3 months under an accident and health plan covering
employees of the Participant’s Employer. For purposes of this Plan, a Participant shall be deemed Disabled if determined to be
totally disabled by the Social Security Administration. A Participant shall also be deemed Disabled if determined to be disabled
in accordance with the applicable disability insurance program of such Participant’s Employer, provided that the definition of
“disability” applied under such disability insurance program complies with the requirements of this Section.

1.19 “Election Form” shall mean the form, which may be in electronic format, established from time to time by the Committee that
a Participant completes, signs and returns to the Committee to make an election under the Plan.

1.20 “Employee” shall mean a person who is an employee of an Employer.

1.21 “Employer(s)” shall be defined as follows:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in part (b) of this Section, the term “Employer” shall mean the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries (now in existence or hereafter formed or acquired) that have been selected by the Board to
participate in the Plan and have adopted the Plan as a sponsor.

(b) For the purpose of determining whether a Participant has experienced a Separation from Service, the term
“Employer” shall mean:

(i)    The entity for which the Participant performs services and with respect to which the legally binding right to
compensation deferred or contributed under this Plan arises; and

(ii)    All other entities with which the entity described above would be aggregated and treated as a single
employer under Code Section 414(b) (controlled group of corporations) and Code Section 414(c) (a group of
trades or businesses, whether or not incorporated, under common control), as applicable. In order to identify the
group of entities described in the preceding sentence, the Committee shall use an ownership threshold of at least
50% as a substitute for the 80% minimum ownership threshold that appears in, and otherwise must be used
when applying, the applicable provisions of (A) Code Section 1563 for determining a controlled group of
corporations under Code Section 414(b), and (B) Treas. Reg. §1.414(c)- 2 for determining the trades or
businesses that are under common control under Code Section 414(c).



1.22 “ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as it may be amended from time to time.

1.23 “401(k) Plan” shall mean, with respect to an Employer, a plan qualified under Code Section 401(a) that contains a cash or
deferral arrangement described in Code Section 401(k), adopted by the Employer, as it may be amended from time to time, or
any successor thereto.

1.24 “LTI Awards” shall mean any portion of any compensation attributable to a Plan Year that is denominated in shares of Stock
and is earned by a Participant under the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan or any other long-term incentive arrangement
maintained by the Company or an Employer and designated by the Committee, and including restricted stock unit awards,
performance awards, bonus share awards and any other awards granted by the Company, in each case to the extent deferral of
such award is permitted by the Committee, but excluding any stock options and stock appreciation rights granted by the
Company.

1.25 “LTIP Amounts ” shall mean any portion of the compensation attributable to a Plan Year that is denominated in cash and is
earned by a Participant under any long-term incentive arrangement maintained by the Company or an Employer and designated
by the Committee, in each case to the extent deferral of such award is permitted by the Committee.

1.26 “Participant” shall mean any Employee or Director (a) who is selected to participate in the Plan, (b) whose executed Plan
Agreement, Election Form and Beneficiary Designation Form are accepted by the Committee, and (c) whose Plan Agreement
has not terminated.

1.27 “Performance-Based Compensation” shall mean compensation the entitlement to or amount of which is contingent on the
satisfaction of pre-established organizational or individual performance criteria relating to a performance period of at least 12
consecutive months, as determined by the Committee in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(e).

1.28 “Plan” shall mean the DineEquity, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, which shall be evidenced by this
instrument, as it may be amended from time to time, and by any other documents that together with this instrument define a
Participant’s rights to amounts credited to his or her Account Balance.

1.29 “Plan Agreement” shall mean a written agreement in the form prescribed by or acceptable to the Committee that evidences a
Participant’s agreement to the terms of the Plan and which may establish additional terms or conditions of Plan participation for
a Participant. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the most recent Plan Agreement accepted with respect to a
Participant shall supersede any prior Plan Agreements for such Participant. Plan Agreements may vary among Participants and
may provide additional benefits not set forth in the Plan or limit the benefits otherwise provided under the Plan.

1.30 “Plan Year” shall mean a period beginning on January 1 of each calendar year and continuing through December 31 of such
calendar year.

1.31 “Retirement,” “Retire(s)” or “Retired” shall mean with respect to a Participant who is an Employee, a Separation from
Service on or after date on which such Participant's age plus Years of Service equals at least 70, and shall mean with respect to
a Participant who is a Director, a Separation from Service on or after the date the Director attains age 70. If a Participant is both
an Employee and a Director and participates in the Plan in each capacity, (a) the determination of whether the Participant
qualifies for Retirement as an Employee shall be made when the Participant experiences a Separation from Service as an
Employee and such determination shall only apply to the applicable Account Balance established in accordance with Section
1.1 for amounts deferred under the Plan as an Employee, and (b) the determination of whether the Participant qualifies for
Retirement as a Director shall be made at the time the Participant experiences a Separation from Service as a Director and such
determination shall only apply to the applicable Account Balance established in accordance with Section 1.1 for amounts
deferred under the Plan as a Director.

1.32 “Separation from Service” shall mean a termination of services provided by a Participant to his or her Employer, whether
voluntarily or involuntarily, other than by reason of death or Disability, as determined by the Committee in accordance with
Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(h). In determining whether a Participant has experienced a Separation from Service, the following
provisions shall apply:



(a) For a Participant who provides services to an Employer as an Employee, except as otherwise provided in part
(c) of this Section, a Separation from Service shall occur when such Participant has experienced a termination of
employment with such Employer. A Participant shall be considered to have experienced a termination of
employment when the facts and circumstances indicate that the Participant and his or her Employer reasonably
anticipate that either (i) no further services will be performed for the Employer after a certain date, or (ii) that the
level of bona fide services the Participant will perform for the Employer after such date (whether as an
Employee or as an independent contractor) will permanently decrease to no more than 20% of the average level
of bona fide services performed by such Participant (whether as an Employee or an independent contractor)
over the immediately preceding 36-month period (or the full period of services to the Employer if the Participant
has been providing services to the Employer less than 36 months).

(b) If a Participant is on military leave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave of absence, the employment relationship
between the Participant and the Employer shall be treated as continuing intact, provided that the period of such
leave does not exceed 6 months, or if longer, so long as the Participant retains a right to reemployment with the
Employer under an applicable statute or by contract. If the period of a military leave, sick leave, or other bona
fide leave of absence exceeds 6 months and the Participant does not retain a right to reemployment under an
applicable statute or by contract, the employment relationship shall be considered to be terminated for purposes
of this Plan as of the first day immediately following the end of such 6-month period. In applying the provisions
of this paragraph, a leave of absence shall be considered a bona fide leave of absence only if there is a
reasonable expectation that the Participant will return to perform services for the Employer.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions in part (a) of this Section, if a Participant provides services for an
Employer as both an Employee and as a Director, to the extent permitted by Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(h)(5) the
services provided by such Participant as a Director shall not be taken into account in determining whether the
Participant has experienced a Separation from Service as an Employee, and the services provided by such
Participant as an Employee shall not be taken into account in determining whether the Participant has
experienced a Separation from Service as a Director.

1.33 “Specified Employee” shall mean any Participant who is determined to be a “key employee” (as defined under Code Section
416(i) without regard to paragraph (5) thereof) for the applicable period, as determined annually by the Committee in
accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(i). In determining whether a Participant is a Specified Employee, the following
provisions shall apply:

(a) The Committee’s identification of the individuals who fall within the definition of “key employee” under Code
Section 416(i) (without regard to paragraph (5) thereof) shall be based upon the 12-month period ending on
each December 31st (referred to below as the “identification date”). In applying the applicable provisions of
Code Section 416(i) to identify such individuals, “compensation” shall be determined in accordance with Treas.
Reg. §1.415(c)-2; and

(b) Each Participant who is among the individuals identified as a “key employee” in accordance with part (a) of this
Section shall be treated as a Specified Employee for purposes of this Plan if such Participant experiences a
Separation from Service during the 12-month period that begins on the April 1st following the applicable
identification date.

1.34 “Stock” shall mean DineEquity, Inc. common stock, $.01 par value, or any other equity securities or the Company as
designated by the Committee.

1.35 “Stock Incentive Plan” shall mean the Company’s 2016 Stock Incentive Plan or any successor thereto.

1.36 “Trust” shall mean one or more trusts established by the Company in accordance with Article 16.

1.37 “Unforeseeable Emergency” shall mean a severe financial hardship of the Participant resulting from (a) an illness or accident
of the Participant, the Participant’s spouse, the Participant’s Beneficiary or the Participant’s dependent (as defined in Code
Section 152 without regard to paragraphs (b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(b) thereof), (b) a loss of the Participant’s property due to
casualty, or (c) such other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control
of the Participant, all as determined by the Committee based on the relevant facts and circumstances.

1.38 “Years of Service” shall mean the total number of full years in which a Participant has been employed by one or more
Employers. For purposes of this definition, a year of employment shall be a 365 day period (or 366 day period in the case of a
leap year) that, for the first year of employment, commences on the Employee's date of hiring and that, for any subsequent year,
commences on an anniversary of that hiring date. A partial year of employment shall not be treated as a Year of Service.



ARTICLE 2     
Selection, Enrollment, Eligibility

2.1 Selection by Committee. Participation in the Plan shall be limited to Directors and, as determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion, a select group of management or highly compensated Employees. From that group, the Committee shall select, in its
sole discretion, those individuals who may actually participate in this Plan.

2.2 Enrollment and Eligibility Requirements; Commencement of Participation.

(a) As a condition to participation, each Director or selected Employee shall complete, execute and return to the
Committee a Plan Agreement, an Election Form and a Beneficiary Designation Form by the deadline(s)
established by the Committee in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Plan. In addition, the
Committee shall establish from time to time such other enrollment requirements as it determines, in its sole
discretion, are necessary.

(b) Each Director or selected Employee who is eligible to participate in the Plan shall commence participation in the
Plan on the date that the Committee determines that the Director or Employee has met all enrollment
requirements set forth in this Plan and required by the Committee, including returning all required documents to
the Committee within the specified time period.

(c) If a Director or an Employee fails to meet all requirements established by the Committee within the period
required, that Director or Employee shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan during such Plan Year.

ARTICLE 3     
Deferral Commitments/Company Contribution 

Amounts/Vesting/Crediting/Taxes

3.1 Maximum Deferral.

(a) Annual Deferral Amount. For each Plan Year, a Participant may elect to defer, as his or her Annual Deferral
Amount, Base Salary, Bonus, LTI Awards, LTIP Amounts and/or Director Fees up to the following maximum
percentages for each deferral elected; provided that the Committee may provide for lower or higher maximum
percentages with respect to any particular award that is eligible for deferral.

Deferral Maximum Percentage
Base Salary 80%
Bonus 100%
LTI Awards 100%
LTIP Amounts 100%
Director Fees 100%

(b) Short Plan Year . Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant first becomes a Participant after the first day
of a Plan Year, then to the extent required by Section 3.2 and Code Section 409A and related Treasury
Regulations, the maximum amount of the Participant’s Base Salary, Bonus, LTI Awards, LTIP Amounts or
Director Fees that may be deferred by the Participant for the Plan Year shall be determined by applying the
percentages set forth in Section 3.1(a) to the portion of such compensation attributable to services performed
after the date that the Participant’s deferral election is made.

3.2 Timing of Deferral Elections; Effect of Election Form.

(a) General Timing Rule for Deferral Elections. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 3.2, in order for a
Participant to make a valid election to defer Base Salary, Bonus, Director Fees, LTI Awards and/or LTIP
Amounts, the Participant must submit an Election Form on or before the deadline established by the Committee,
which in no event shall be later than the December 31st preceding the Plan Year in which such compensation
will be earned.



Any deferral election made in accordance with this Section 3.2(a) shall be irrevocable; provided, however, that
if the Committee permits or requires Participants to make a deferral election by the deadline described above for
an amount that qualifies as Performance-Based Compensation, the Committee may permit a Participant to
subsequently change his or her deferral election for such compensation by submitting a new Election Form in
accordance with Section 3.2(d) below.

(b) Timing of Deferral Elections for Newly Eligible Plan Participants. A Director or selected Employee who
first becomes eligible to participate in the Plan on or after the beginning of a Plan Year, as determined in
accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A- 2(a)(7)(ii) and the “plan aggregation” rules provided in Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-1(c)(2), may be permitted to make an election to defer the portion of Base Salary, Bonus, Director
Fees, LTI Awards and/or LTIP Amounts attributable to services to be performed after such election, provided
that the Participant submits an Election Form on or before the deadline established by the Committee, which in
no event shall be later than 30 days after the Participant first becomes eligible to participate in the Plan.

If a deferral election made in accordance with this Section 3.2(b) relates to compensation earned based upon a
specified performance period, the amount eligible for deferral shall be equal to (i) the total amount of
compensation for the performance period, multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
days remaining in the service period after the Participant’s deferral election is made, and the denominator of
which is the total number of days in the performance period.

Any deferral election made in accordance with this Section 3.2(b) shall become irrevocable no later than the
30th day after the date the Director or selected Employee becomes eligible to participate in the Plan.

(c) Timing of Deferral Elections for Performance-Based Compensation. Subject to the limitations described
below, the Committee may determine that an irrevocable deferral election for an amount that qualifies as
Performance-Based Compensation may be made by submitting an Election Form on or before the deadline
established by the Committee, which in no event shall be later than 6 months before the end of the performance
period.

In order for a Participant to be eligible to make a deferral election for Performance-Based Compensation in
accordance with the deadline established pursuant to this Section 3.2(c), the Participant must have performed
services continuously from the later of (i) the beginning of the performance period for such compensation, or (ii)
the date upon which the performance criteria for such compensation are established, through the date upon
which the Participant makes the deferral election for such compensation. In no event shall a deferral election
submitted under this Section 3.2(c) be permitted to apply to any amount of Performance-Based Compensation
that has become readily ascertainable.

(d) Timing Rule for Deferral of Compensation Subject to Risk of Forfeiture. With respect to compensation (i)
to which a Participant has a legally binding right to payment in a subsequent year, and (ii) that is subject to a
forfeiture condition requiring the Participant’s continued services for a period of at least 12 months from the date
the Participant obtains the legally binding right, the Committee may determine that an irrevocable deferral
election for such compensation may be made by timely delivering an Election Form to the Committee in
accordance with its rules and procedures, no later than the 30th day after the Participant obtains the legally
binding right to the compensation, provided that the election is made at least 12 months in advance of the
earliest date at which the forfeiture condition could lapse, as determined in accordance with Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-2(a)(5) (which disregards accelerated vesting due to death, disability or a change in control event (as
each term is defined under Section 409A of the Code), but not other acceleration events).

Any deferral election(s) made in accordance with this Section 3.2(d) shall become irrevocable no later than the
30th day after the Participant obtains the legally binding right to the compensation subject to such deferral
election(s).



(e) Timing Rule for Deferral of Unvested Compensation Subject to Five-Year Minimum Deferral . With
respect to compensation to which a Participant has a legally binding right to a payment in a subsequent year
that, absent a deferral election, would be treated as a short-term deferral within the meaning of Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-1(b)(4), the Committee may determine that an irrevocable deferral election for such compensation may
be made by (A) timely delivering an Election Form to the Committee in accordance with its rules and
procedures, at least 12 months in advance of the date on which the applicable forfeiture condition lapses and (B)
electing a Benefit Distribution Date pursuant to Section 4.1 that is not less than five years after the date on
which such forfeiture condition lapses; provided that the Benefit Distribution Date may accelerate due to the
Participant’s death or Disability, an Unforeseeable Emergency or a Change in Control, to the extent provided
under the Plan, the Participant’s Election Form and Section 409A of the Code. Such election shall be null and
void if such forfeiture condition lapses within 12 months after the date the Participant delivers the Election Form
to the Committee.

3.3 Withholding and Crediting of Annual Deferral Amounts . For each Plan Year, the Base Salary portion of the Annual
Deferral Amount shall be withheld from each regularly scheduled Base Salary payroll in equal amounts, as adjusted from time
to time for increases and decreases in Base Salary. The Bonus, LTI Awards, LTIP Amounts and/or Director Fees portion of
the Annual Deferral Amount shall be withheld at the time the Bonus, LTI Awards, LTIP Amounts or Director Fees are or
otherwise would be paid to the Participant, whether or not this occurs during the Plan Year itself. Annual Deferral Amounts
shall be credited to the Participant’s Annual Account for such Plan Year at the time such amounts would otherwise have been
paid to the Participant.

3.4 Company Contribution Amount.

(a) For each Plan Year, an Employer may be required to credit amounts to a Participant’s Annual Account in
accordance with employment or other agreements entered into between the Participant and the Employer, which
amounts shall be part of the Participant’s Company Contribution Amount for that Plan Year. Such amounts
shall be credited to the Participant’s Annual Account for the applicable Plan Year on the date or dates
prescribed by such agreements.

(b) For each Plan Year, an Employer, in its sole discretion, may, but is not required to, credit any amount it desires
to any Participant’s Annual Account under this Plan, which amount shall be part of the Participant’s Company
Contribution Amount for that Plan Year. The amount so credited to a Participant may be smaller or larger than
the amount credited to any other Participant, and the amount credited to any Participant for a Plan Year may be
zero, even though one or more other Participants receive a Company Contribution Amount for that Plan Year.
The Company Contribution Amount described in this Section 3.4(b), if any, shall be credited to the Participant’s
Annual Account for the applicable Plan Year on a date or dates to be determined by the Committee.

(c) If not otherwise specified in the Participant’s employment or other agreement entered into between the
Participant and the Employer, the amount (or the method or formula for determining the amount) of a
Participant’s Company Contribution Amount shall be set forth in writing in one or more documents, which shall
be deemed to be incorporated into this Plan in accordance with Section 1.27, no later than the date on which
such Company Contribution Amount is credited to the applicable Annual Account of the Participant.

3.5 Vesting.

(a) A Participant shall at all times be 100% vested in the portion of his or her Account Balance attributable to
Annual Deferral Amounts, plus amounts credited or debited on such amounts pursuant to Section 3.6.

(b) A Participant shall be vested in the portion of his or her Account Balance attributable to any Company
Contribution Amounts, plus amounts credited or debited on such amounts pursuant to Section 3.6, in
accordance with the vesting schedule(s) set forth in his or her Plan Agreement, employment agreement or any
other agreement entered into between the Participant and his or her Employer. If not addressed in such
agreements, a Participant shall vest in the portion of his or her Account Balance attributable to any Company
Contribution Amounts, plus amounts credited or debited on such amounts pursuant to Section 3.6, in
accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Service Vested Percentage
Less than 3 years 0%



3 years or more 100%

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 3.5, but subject to the terms of a Participant’s
Plan Agreement, employment agreement or other agreement entered into between the Participant and his or her
Employer, in the event of a Change in Control, or upon a Participant’s Disability, Separation from Service on or
after qualifying for Retirement, or death prior to Separation from Service, any amounts that are not vested in
accordance with Section 3.5(b) above, shall immediately become 100% vested.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, if by reason of Section 280G of the Code any payment or
benefit received or to be received by a Participant in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of
the Participant's employment (whether payable pursuant to the terms of this Plan (“Plan Payments”) or any other
plan, arrangements or agreement with the Company or an affiliate (collectively with the Plan Payments, “Total
Payments”)) would not be deductible (in whole or part) by the Company, an affiliate or other person making
such payment or providing such benefit, then the Total Payments shall be subject to reduction in accordance
with the terms of the Company’s Amended and Restated Executive Severance and Change in Control Policy.

3.6 Crediting/Debiting of Account Balances. In accordance with, and subject to, the rules and procedures that are established
from time to time by the Committee, in its sole discretion, amounts shall be credited or debited to a Participant's Account
Balance in accordance with the following rules:

(a) Measurement Funds. Subject to the restrictions found in Section 3.7(c) below, the Participant may elect one or
more of the measurement funds selected by the Committee, in its sole discretion, which are based on certain
mutual funds (the “Measurement Funds”), for the purpose of crediting or debiting additional amounts to his or
her Account Balance. As necessary, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, discontinue, substitute or add a
Measurement Fund. Each such action will take effect as of the first day of the first calendar quarter that begins at
least 30 days after the day on which the Committee gives Participants advance written notice of such change.

(b) Election of Measurement Funds. Subject to the restrictions found in Section 3.7(c) below, a Participant, in
connection with his or her initial deferral election in accordance with Section 3.2 above, shall elect, on the
Election Form, one or more Measurement Fund(s) (as described in Section 3.6(a) above) to be used to
determine the amounts to be credited or debited to his or her Account Balance. If a Participant does not elect
any of the Measurement Funds as described in the previous sentence, the Participant’s Account Balance shall
automatically be allocated into the lowest-risk Measurement Fund, as determined by the Committee, in its sole
discretion. Subject to the restrictions found in Section 3.7(c) below, the Participant may (but is not required to)
elect, by submitting an Election Form to the Committee that is accepted by the Committee, to add or delete one
or more Measurement Fund(s) to be used to determine the amounts to be credited or debited to his or her
Account Balance, or to change the portion of his or her Account Balance allocated to each previously or newly
elected Measurement Fund. If an election is made in accordance with the previous sentence, it shall apply as of
the first business day deemed reasonably practicable by the Committee, in its sole discretion, and shall continue
thereafter for each subsequent day in which the Participant participates in the Plan, unless changed in
accordance with the previous sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee, in its sole discretion,
may impose limitations on the frequency with which one or more of the Measurement Funds elected in
accordance with this Section 3.6(b) may be added or deleted by such Participant; furthermore, the Committee, in
its sole discretion, may impose limitations on the frequency with which the Participant may change the portion
of his or her Account Balance allocated to each previously or newly elected Measurement Fund.

(c) DineEquity, Inc. Stock Unit Fund.

(i)    The portion of a Participant’s Account Balance that relates to an LTI Award will be automatically and
irrevocably allocated to the DineEquity, Inc. Stock Unit Fund Measurement Fund. Participants may not select
any other Measurement Fund to be used to determine the amounts to be credited or debited to such portion of
their Account Balance. Furthermore, no other portion of the Participant’s Account Balance can be either initially
allocated or reallocated to the DineEquity, Inc. Stock Unit Fund. Amounts allocated to the DineEquity, Inc.
Stock Unit Fund shall only be distributable in actual shares of Stock.

(ii)    Any stock dividends, cash dividends or other non-cash dividends that would have been payable on the
Stock credited to a Participant’s Account Balance shall be credited to the Participant’s Account Balance in the
form of additional shares of Stock and shall automatically and irrevocably be deemed to be re-invested in the
DineEquity, Inc. Stock Unit Fund until such amounts are distributed to the Participant. The number of shares



credited to the Participant for a particular stock dividend shall be equal to (a) the number of shares of Stock
credited to the Participant’s Account Balance as of the payment date for such dividend in respect of each share
of Stock, multiplied by (b) the number of additional or fractional shares of Stock actually paid as a dividend in
respect of each share of Stock. The number of shares credited to the Participant for a particular cash dividend or
other non-cash dividend shall be equal to (a) the number of shares of Stock credited to the Participant’s Account
Balance as of the payment date for such dividend in respect of each share of Stock, multiplied by (b) the fair
market value of the dividend, divided by (c) the “fair market value” of the Stock on the payment date for such
dividend.

(iii)    The number of shares of Stock credited to the Participant’s Account Balance shall be adjusted by the
Committee, in such manner as the Committee deems appropriate, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or
enlargement of Participants’ rights with respect to the portion of his or her Account Balance allocated to the
DineEquity, Inc. Stock Unit Fund in the event of any reorganization, reclassification, stock split, or other
unusual corporate transaction or event which affects the value of the Stock, provided that any such adjustment
shall be made taking into account any crediting of shares of Stock to the Participant under Section 3.6.

(iv)    For purposes of this Section 3.6, the fair market value of the Stock shall be determined by the Committee
in a manner consistent with the terms of the Company’s Stock Incentive Plan

(d) Proportionate Allocation. In making any election described in Section 3.6(b) above, the Participant shall
specify on the Election Form, in increments of one percent (1%), the percentage of his or her Account Balance
or Measurement Fund, as applicable, to be allocated/reallocated.

(e) Crediting or Debiting Method.    The performance of each Measurement Fund (either positive or negative)
will be determined on a daily basis based on the manner in which such Participant’s Account Balance has been
hypothetically allocated among the Measurement Funds by the Participant.

(f) No Actual Investment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan that may be interpreted to the
contrary, the Measurement Funds are to be used for measurement purposes only, and a Participant's election of
any such Measurement Fund, the allocation of his or her Account Balance thereto, the calculation of additional
amounts and the crediting or debiting of such amounts to a Participant's Account Balance shall not be
considered or construed in any manner as an actual investment of his or her Account Balance in any such
Measurement Fund. In the event that the Company or the Trustee (as that term is defined in the Trust), in its
own discretion, decides to invest funds in any or all of the investments on which the Measurement Funds are
based, no Participant shall have any rights in or to such investments themselves. Without limiting the foregoing,
a Participant's Account Balance shall at all times be a bookkeeping entry only and shall not represent any
investment made on his or her behalf by the Company or the Trust; the Participant shall at all times remain an
unsecured creditor of the Company.

3.7 FICA and Other Taxes.

(a) Annual Deferral Amounts. For each Plan Year in which an Annual Deferral Amount is being withheld from a
Participant, the Participant’s Employer(s) shall withhold from that portion of the Participant’s Base Salary,
Bonus, LTI Awards and/or LTIP Amounts that is not being deferred, in a manner determined by the
Employer(s), the Participant’s share of FICA and other employment taxes on such Annual Deferral Amount. If
necessary, the Committee may reduce the Annual Deferral Amount in order to comply with this Section 3.7.

(b) Company Contribution Amounts. When a Participant becomes vested in a portion of his or her Account
Balance attributable to any Company Contribution Amounts, the Participant’s Employer(s) shall withhold from
that portion of the Participant’s Base Salary, Bonus, LTI Awards and/or LTIP Amounts that is not deferred, in a
manner determined by the Employer(s), the Participant’s share of FICA and other employment taxes on such
amounts. If necessary, the Committee may reduce the vested portion of the Participant’s Company Contribution
Amount, as applicable, in order to comply with this Section 3.7.

(c) Distributions. The Participant’s Employer(s), or the trustee of the Trust, shall withhold from any payments
made to a Participant under this Plan all federal, state and local income, employment and other taxes required to
be withheld by the Employer(s), or the trustee of the Trust, in connection with such payments, in amounts and
in a manner to be determined in the sole discretion of the Employer(s) and the trustee of the Trust.

ARTICLE 4     
Scheduled Distributions; Unforeseeable 



Emergencies

4.1 Scheduled Distributions. In connection with each election to defer an Annual Deferral Amount, a Participant may elect to
receive all or a specified portion of such Annual Deferral Amount, plus amounts credited or debited on that amount pursuant to
Section 3.6, in the form of a lump sum payment (or, to the extent permitted by the Committee and elected by the Participant at
the time of his or her deferral election, in the form of installments over a period of not more than five years), calculated as of the
close of business on or around the Benefit Distribution Date designated by the Participant in accordance with this Section (a
“Scheduled Distribution”). The Benefit Distribution Date for the amount subject to a Scheduled Distribution election shall be
the first day of any Plan Year designated by the Participant, which may be no sooner than three Plan Years after the end of the
Plan Year to which the Participant’s deferral election relates, unless otherwise provided on an Election Form approved by the
Committee. The Committee may permit Participants to make separate distribution elections for each separate award or
component of compensation deferred under the Plan.

Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Plan, each Scheduled Distribution elected shall be paid out (or, if paid in
installments as permitted by the Committee, commence) during a 60 day period commencing immediately after the applicable
Benefit Distribution Date. By way of example, if a Scheduled Distribution is elected for Annual Deferral Amounts that are
earned in the Plan Year commencing January 1, 2017, the earliest Benefit Distribution Date that may be designated by a
Participant would be January 1, 2021, and the Scheduled Distribution would be paid out (or commence) during the 60 day
period commencing immediately after such Benefit Distribution Date.

4.2 Postponing Scheduled Distributions.    A Participant may elect to postpone a Scheduled Distribution described in Section 4.1
above, and have such amount paid out (or commence) during a 60 day period commencing immediately after an allowable
alternative Benefit Distribution Date designated in accordance with this Section 4.2. In order to make such an election, the
Participant must submit an Election Form to the Committee in accordance with the following criteria:

(a) The election of the new Benefit Distribution Date shall have no effect until at least 12 months after the date on
which the election is made;

(b) The new Benefit Distribution Date selected by the Participant for such Scheduled Distribution must be the first
day of a Plan Year that is no sooner than five years after the previously designated Benefit Distribution Date;
and

(c) The election must be made at least 12 months prior to the Participant's previously designated Benefit
Distribution Date for such Scheduled Distribution.

For purposes of applying the provisions of this Section 4.2, a Participant’s election to postpone a Scheduled Distribution shall
not be considered to be made until the date on which the election becomes irrevocable. Such an election shall become
irrevocable no later than the date that is 12 months prior to the Participant’s previously designated Benefit Distribution Date for
such Scheduled Distribution.

4.3 Other Benefits Take Precedence Over Scheduled Distributions. Should an event occur prior to any Benefit Distribution
Date designated for a Scheduled Distribution that would trigger a benefit under Articles 5 through 9, as applicable, all amounts
subject to a Scheduled Distribution election shall be paid in accordance with the other applicable provisions of the Plan and not
in accordance with this Article 4.

4.4 Unforeseeable Emergencies.

(a) If a Participant experiences an Unforeseeable Emergency prior to the occurrence of a distribution event
described in Articles 5 through 9, as applicable, the Participant may petition the Committee to receive a partial
or full payout from the Plan. The payout, if any, from the Plan shall not exceed the lesser of (i) the Participant's
vested Account Balance, calculated as of the close of business on or around the Benefit Distribution Date for
such payout, as determined by the Committee in accordance with provisions set forth below, or (ii) the amount
necessary to satisfy the Unforeseeable Emergency, plus amounts necessary to pay Federal, state, or local income
taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated as a result of the distribution. A Participant shall not be eligible to
receive a payout from the Plan to the extent that the Unforeseeable Emergency is or may be relieved (A)
through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or otherwise, (B) by liquidation of the Participant’s assets,
to the extent the liquidation of such assets would not itself cause severe financial hardship or (C) by cessation of
deferrals under this Plan.

If the Committee, in its sole discretion, approves a Participant’s petition for payout from the Plan, the



Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date for such payout shall be the date on which such Committee approval
occurs and such payout shall be distributed to the Participant in a lump sum no later than 60 days after such
Benefit Distribution Date. In addition, in the event of such approval the Participant’s outstanding deferral
elections under the Plan shall be cancelled.

(b) A Participant’s deferral elections under this Plan shall also be cancelled to the extent the Committee determines
that such action is required for the Participant to obtain a hardship distribution from an Employer’s 401(k) Plan
pursuant to Treas. Reg. §1.401(k)-1(d)(3).

ARTICLE 5     
Change in Control Benefit

5.1 Change in Control Benefit. A Participant, in connection with his or her commencement of participation in the Plan, shall have
an opportunity to irrevocably elect to receive his or her vested Account Balance in the form of a lump sum payment in the
event that a Change in Control occurs prior to the Participant’s Separation from Service, Disability or death (the “Change in
Control Benefit”). The Benefit Distribution Date for the Change in Control Benefit, if any, shall be the date on which the
Change in Control occurs.

If a Participant elects not to receive a Change in Control Benefit, or fails to make an election in connection with his or her
commencement of participation in the Plan, the Participant’s Account Balance shall be paid in accordance with the other
applicable provisions of the Plan.

5.2 Payment of Change in Control Benefit.     The Change in Control Benefit, if any, shall be calculated as of the close of
business on or around the Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date, as determined by the Committee, and paid to the Participant
no later than 60 days after the Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date.

ARTICLE 6     
Retirement Benefit

6.1 Retirement Benefit.

(a) If a Participant experiences a Separation from Service that qualifies as a Retirement, the Participant shall be
eligible to receive his or her vested Account Balance in either a lump sum or annual installment payments, as
elected by the Participant in accordance with Section 6.2 (the “Retirement Benefit”). A Participant’s Retirement
Benefit shall be calculated as of the close of business on or around the applicable Benefit Distribution Date for
such benefit, which shall be (i) the first day after the end of the 6-month period immediately following the date
on which the Participant experiences such Separation from Service if the Participant is a Specified Employee,
and (ii) for all other Participants, the date on which the Participant experiences a Separation from Service;
provided, however, if a Participant changes the form of distribution for one or more Annual Accounts in
accordance with Section 6.2(b), the Benefit Distribution Date for the Annual Account(s) subject to such change
shall be determined in accordance with Section 6.2(b).

(b) Notwithstanding Section 6.1(a), if a Participant elected to defer compensation pursuant to Section 3.2(e) of the
Plan, the Benefit Distribution Date shall not occur earlier than the date determined pursuant to Section 3.2(e)
(i.e., the 5th anniversary of the applicable vesting date, the Participant’s death or Disability, an Unforeseeable
Emergency or a Change in Control), except to the extent otherwise permitted under Section 409A of the Code.

6.2 Payment of Retirement Benefit.

(a) In connection with a Participant’s election to defer an Annual Deferral Amount, the Participant shall elect the
form in which his or her Annual Account for such Plan Year will be paid. The Participant may elect to receive
each Annual Account in the form of a lump sum or pursuant to an Annual Installment Method of 5 years. If a
Participant does not make any election with respect to the payment of an Annual Account, then the Participant
shall be deemed to have elected to receive such Annual Account as a lump sum.

(b) A Participant may change the form of payment for an Annual Account by submitting an Election Form to the
Committee in accordance with the following criteria:

(i)    The election shall not take effect until at least 12 months after the date on which the election is made;

(ii)    The new Benefit Distribution Date for such Annual Account shall be 5 years after the Benefit Distribution



Date that would otherwise have been applicable to such Annual Account; and

(iii)    The election must be made at least 12 months prior to the Benefit Distribution Date that would otherwise
have been applicable to such Annual Account.

For purposes of applying the provisions of this Section 6.2(b), a Participant’s election to change the form of
payment for an Annual Account shall not be considered to be made until the date on which the election
becomes irrevocable. Such an election shall become irrevocable no later than the date that is 12 months prior to
the Benefit Distribution Date that would otherwise have been applicable to such Annual Account. Subject to the
requirements of this Section 6.2(b), the Election Form most recently accepted by the Committee that has become
effective for an Annual Account shall govern the form of payout of such Annual Account.

(c) The lump sum payment shall be made, or installment payments shall commence, no later than 60 days after the
applicable Benefit Distribution Date. Remaining installments, if any, shall continue in accordance with the
Participant’s election for each Annual Account and shall be paid no later than 60 days after each anniversary of
the Benefit Distribution Date.

ARTICLE 7     
Termination Benefit

7.1 Termination Benefit. If a Participant experiences a Separation from Service that does not qualify as a Retirement, the
Participant shall receive his or her vested Account Balance in the form of a lump sum payment (the “Termination Benefit”);
provided that the Committee may, in its sole discretion, permit a Participant to elect to receive his or her Termination Benefit in
the form of installments in accordance with Section 6.2, as though the Participant was eligible for Retirement. A Participant’s
Termination Benefit shall be calculated as of the close of business on or around the Benefit Distribution Date for such benefit,
which shall be (i) the first day after the end of the 6-month period immediately following the date on which the Participant
experiences such Separation from Service if the Participant is a Specified Employee, and (ii) for all other Participants, the date
on which the Participant experiences a Separation from Service.

7.2 Payment of Termination Benefit. The Termination Benefit shall be paid, or installment payments shall commence, to the
Participant no later than 60 days after the Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date. Notwithstanding this Section 7.2, if a
Participant elected to defer compensation pursuant to Section 3.2(e) of the Plan, the Benefit Distribution Date shall not occur
earlier than the date determined pursuant to Section 3.2(e) (i.e., the 5th anniversary of the applicable vesting date, the
Participant’s death or Disability, an Unforeseeable Emergency or a Change in Control) except to the extent otherwise permitted
under Section 409A of the Code.

ARTICLE 8     
Disability Benefit

8.1 Disability Benefit. If a Participant becomes Disabled prior to the occurrence of a distribution event described in Articles 5
through 7, as applicable, the Participant shall receive his or her vested Account Balance in the form of a lump sum payment
(the “Disability Benefit”); provided that the Committee may, in its sole discretion, permit a Participant to elect to receive his or
her Disability Benefit in the form of installments in accordance with Section 6.2, as though the Participant was eligible for
Retirement. The Disability Benefit shall be calculated as of the close of business on or around the Participant’s Benefit
Distribution Date for such benefit, which shall be the date on which the Participant becomes Disabled.

8.2 Payment of Disability Benefit. The Disability Benefit shall be paid, or installment payments shall commence, to the
Participant no later than 60 days after the Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date.

ARTICLE 9     
Death Benefit

9.1 Death Benefit. In the event of a Participant’s death prior to the complete distribution of his or her vested Account Balance, the
Participant's Beneficiary(ies) shall receive the Participant's unpaid vested Account Balance in a lump sum payment (the “Death
Benefit”); provided that the Committee may, in its sole discretion, permit a Participant to elect to receive his or her Death
Benefit in the form of installments in accordance with Section 6.2, as though the Participant was eligible for Retirement. The
Death Benefit shall be calculated as of the close of business on or around the Benefit Distribution Date for such benefit, which
shall be the date on which the Committee is provided with proof that is satisfactory to the Committee of the Participant’s death.

9.2 Payment of Death Benefit. The Death Benefit shall be paid, or installment payments shall commence, to the Participant’s
Beneficiary(ies) no later than 60 days after the Participant’s Benefit Distribution Date.



ARTICLE 10     
Beneficiary Designation

10.1 Beneficiary. Each Participant shall have the right, at any time, to designate his or her Beneficiary(ies) (both primary as well as
contingent) to receive any benefits payable under the Plan to a beneficiary upon the death of a Participant. The Beneficiary
designated under this Plan may be the same as or different from the Beneficiary designation under any other plan of an
Employer in which the Participant participates.

10.2 Beneficiary Designation; Change; Spousal Consent. A Participant shall designate his or her Beneficiary by completing and
signing the Beneficiary Designation Form, and returning it to the Committee or its designated agent. A Participant shall have
the right to change a Beneficiary by completing, signing and otherwise complying with the terms of the Beneficiary
Designation Form and the Committee's rules and procedures, as in effect from time to time. If the Participant names someone
other than his or her spouse as a Beneficiary, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that spousal consent is
required to be provided in a form designated by the Committee, executed by such Participant's spouse and returned to the
Committee. Upon the acceptance by the Committee of a new Beneficiary Designation Form, all Beneficiary designations
previously filed shall be canceled. The Committee shall be entitled to rely on the last Beneficiary Designation Form filed by the
Participant and accepted by the Committee prior to his or her death.

10.3 Acknowledgment. No designation or change in designation of a Beneficiary shall be effective until received and
acknowledged in writing by the Committee or its designated agent.

10.4 No Beneficiary Designation. If a Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary as provided in Sections 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3 above
or, if all designated Beneficiaries predecease the Participant or die prior to complete distribution of the Participant's benefits,
then the Participant's designated Beneficiary shall be deemed to be his or her surviving spouse. If the Participant has no
surviving spouse, the benefits remaining under the Plan to be paid to a Beneficiary shall be payable to the executor or personal
representative of the Participant's estate.

10.5 Doubt as to Beneficiary. If the Committee has any doubt as to the proper Beneficiary to receive payments pursuant to this
Plan, the Committee shall have the right, exercisable in its discretion, to cause the Participant's Employer to withhold such
payments until this matter is resolved to the Committee's satisfaction.

10.6 Discharge of Obligations. The payment of benefits under the Plan to a Beneficiary shall fully and completely discharge all
Employers and the Committee from all further obligations under this Plan with respect to the Participant, and that Participant's
Plan Agreement shall terminate upon such full payment of benefits.

ARTICLE 11     
Leave of Absence

11.1 Paid Leave of Absence. If a Participant is authorized by the Participant's Employer to take a paid leave of absence from the
employment of the Employer, and such leave of absence does not constitute a Separation from Service, (a) the Participant shall
continue to be considered eligible for the benefits provided under the Plan, and (b) the Annual Deferral Amount shall continue
to be withheld during such paid leave of absence in accordance with Section 3.2.

11.2 Unpaid Leave of Absence. If a Participant is authorized by the Participant's Employer to take an unpaid leave of absence from
the employment of the Employer for any reason, and such leave of absence does not constitute a Separation from Service, such
Participant shall continue to be eligible for the benefits provided under the Plan. During the unpaid leave of absence, the
Participant shall not be allowed to make any additional deferral elections. However, if the Participant returns to employment,
the Participant may elect to defer an Annual Deferral Amount for the Plan Year following his or her return to employment and
for every Plan Year thereafter while a Participant in the Plan, provided such deferral elections are otherwise allowed and an
Election Form is delivered to and accepted by the Committee for each such election in accordance with Section 3.2 above.

ARTICLE 12     
Termination of Plan, Amendment or Modification



12.1 Termination of Plan. Although each Employer anticipates that it will continue the Plan for an indefinite period of time, there
is no guarantee that any Employer will continue the Plan or will not terminate the Plan at any time in the future. Accordingly,
each Employer reserves the right to terminate the Plan with respect to all of its Participants. In the event of a Plan termination
no new deferral elections shall be permitted for the affected Participants and such Participants shall no longer be eligible to
receive new company contributions. However, after the Plan termination the Account Balances of such Participants shall
continue to be credited with Annual Deferral Amounts attributable to a deferral election that was in effect prior to the Plan
termination to the extent deemed necessary to comply with Code Section 409A and related Treasury Regulations, and
additional amounts shall continue to credited or debited to such Participants’ Account Balances pursuant to Section 3.6. The
Measurement Funds available to Participants following the termination of the Plan shall be comparable in number and type to
those Measurement Funds available to Participants in the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the Plan termination is
effective. In addition, following a Plan termination, Participant Account Balances shall remain in the Plan and shall not be
distributed until such amounts become eligible for distribution in accordance with the other applicable provisions of the Plan.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, to the extent permitted by Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix), the Employer may provide
that upon termination of the Plan, all Account Balances of the Participants shall be distributed, subject to and in accordance
with any rules established by such Employer deemed necessary to comply with the applicable requirements and limitations of
Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix).

12.2 Amendment. Any Employer may, at any time, amend or modify the Plan in whole or in part with respect to that Employer.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or modification shall be effective to decrease the value of a Participant's vested
Account Balance in existence at the time the amendment or modification is made.

12.3 Plan Agreement. Despite the provisions of Sections 12.1, if a Participant's Plan Agreement contains benefits or limitations that
are not in this Plan document, the Employer may only amend or terminate such provisions with the written consent of the
Participant.

12.4 Effect of Payment. The full payment of the Participant’s vested Account Balance in accordance with the applicable provisions
of the Plan shall completely discharge all obligations to a Participant and his or her designated Beneficiaries under this Plan,
and the Participant's Plan Agreement shall terminate.

ARTICLE 13     
Administration

13.1 Committee Duties. Except as otherwise provided in this Article 13, this Plan shall be administered by a Committee, which
shall consist of the Board, or such committee as the Board shall appoint. Members of the Committee may be Participants under
this Plan. The Committee shall also have the discretion and authority to (a) make, amend, interpret, and enforce all appropriate
rules and regulations for the administration of this Plan, and (b) decide or resolve any and all questions, including benefit
entitlement determinations and interpretations of this Plan, as may arise in connection with the Plan. Any individual serving on
the Committee who is a Participant shall not vote or act on any matter relating solely to himself or herself. When making a
determination or calculation, the Committee shall be entitled to rely on information furnished by a Participant or the Company.

13.2 Administration Upon Change In Control. Within 120 days following a Change in Control, the individuals who comprised
the Committee immediately prior to the Change in Control (whether or not such individuals are members of the Committee
following the Change in Control) may, by written consent of the majority of such individuals, appoint an independent third
party administrator (the “Administrator”) to perform any or all of the Committee’s duties described in Section 13.1 above,
including without limitation, the power to determine any questions arising in connection with the administration or
interpretation of the Plan, and the power to make benefit entitlement determinations. Upon and after the effective date of such
appointment, (a) the Company must pay all reasonable administrative expenses and fees of the Administrator, and (b) the
Administrator may only be terminated with the written consent of the majority of Participants with an Account Balance in the
Plan as of the date of such proposed termination.

13.3 Agents. In the administration of this Plan, the Committee or the Administrator, as applicable, may, from time to time, employ
agents and delegate to them such administrative duties as it sees fit (including acting through a duly appointed representative)
and may from time to time consult with counsel.

13.4 Binding Effect of Decisions. The decision or action of the Committee or Administrator, as applicable, with respect to any
question arising out of or in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan and the rules and
regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final and conclusive and binding upon all persons having any interest in the Plan.



13.5 Indemnity of Committee. All Employers shall indemnify and hold harmless the members of the Committee, any Employee to
whom the duties of the Committee may be delegated, and the Administrator against any and all claims, losses, damages,
expenses or liabilities arising from any action or failure to act with respect to this Plan, except in the case of willful misconduct
by the Committee, any of its members, any such Employee or the Administrator.

13.6 Employer Information. To enable the Committee and/or Administrator to perform its functions, the Company and each
Employer shall supply full and timely information to the Committee and/or Administrator, as the case may be, on all matters
relating to the Plan, the Trust, the Participants and their Beneficiaries, the Account Balances of the Participants, the
compensation of its Participants, the date and circumstances of the Separation from Service, Disability or death of its
Participants, and such other pertinent information as the Committee or Administrator may reasonably require.

ARTICLE 14     
Other Benefits and Agreements

14.1 Coordination with Other Benefits.    The benefits provided for a Participant and Participant's Beneficiary under the Plan are
in addition to any other benefits available to such Participant under any other plan or program for employees of the Participant's
Employer. The Plan shall supplement and shall not supersede, modify or amend any other such plan or program except as may
otherwise be expressly provided.

ARTICLE 15     
Claims Procedures

15.1 Presentation o f Claim.    Any Participant or Beneficiary of a deceased Participant (such Participant or Beneficiary being
referred to below as a “Claimant”) may deliver to the Committee a written claim for a determination with respect to the amounts
distributable to such Claimant from the Plan. If such a claim relates to the contents of a notice received by the Claimant, the
claim must be made within 60 days after such notice was received by the Claimant. All other claims must be made within 180
days of the date on which the event that caused the claim to arise occurred. The claim must state with particularity the
determination desired by the Claimant.

15.2 Notification of Decision. The Committee shall consider a Claimant's claim within a reasonable time, but no later than 90 days
after receiving the claim. If the Committee determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the
claim, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the termination of the initial 90 day period. In
no event shall such extension exceed a period of 90 days from the end of the initial period. The extension notice shall indicate
the special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the Committee expects to render the benefit
determination. The Committee shall notify the Claimant in writing:

(a) that the Claimant's requested determination has been made, and that the claim has been allowed in full; or

(b) that the Committee has reached a conclusion contrary, in whole or in part, to the Claimant's requested
determination, and such notice must set forth in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant:

(i)    the specific reason(s) for the denial of the claim, or any part of it;

(ii)    specific reference(s) to pertinent provisions of the Plan upon which such denial was based;

(iii)    a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Claimant to perfect the claim, and
an explanation of why such material or information is necessary;

(iv)    an explanation of the claim review procedure set forth in Section 15.3 below; and

(v)    a statement of the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action under ERISA Section 502(a) following an adverse
benefit determination on review.

15.3 Review of a Denied Claim. On or before 60 days after receiving a notice from the Committee that a claim has been denied, in
whole or in part, a Claimant (or the Claimant's duly authorized representative) may file with the Committee a written request for
a review of the denial of the claim. The Claimant (or the Claimant's duly authorized representative):

(a) may, upon request and free of charge, have reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and
other information relevant (as defined in applicable ERISA regulations) to the claim for benefits;

(b) may submit written comments or other documents; and/or



(c) may request a hearing, which the Committee, in its sole discretion, may grant.

15.4 Decision on Review. The Committee shall render its decision on review promptly, and no later than 60 days after the
Committee receives the Claimant’s written request for a review of the denial of the claim. If the Committee determines that
special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to
the Claimant prior to the termination of the initial 60 day period. In no event shall such extension exceed a period of 60 days
from the end of the initial period. The extension notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time
and the date by which the Committee expects to render the benefit determination. In rendering its decision, the Committee shall
take into account all comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the Claimant relating to the claim,
without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination. The decision must
be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant, and it must contain:

(a) specific reasons for the decision;

(b) specific reference(s) to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decision was based;

(c) a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to and
copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant (as defined in applicable ERISA regulations) to
the Claimant’s claim for benefits; and

(d) a statement of the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action under ERISA Section 502(a).

15.5 Legal Action. A Claimant's compliance with the foregoing provisions of this Article 15 is a mandatory prerequisite to a
Claimant's right to commence any legal action with respect to any claim for benefits under this Plan.

ARTICLE 16     
Trust

16.1 Establishment of the Trust. In order to provide assets from which to fulfill its obligations to the Participants and their
Beneficiaries under the Plan, the Company may establish a trust by a trust agreement with a third party, the trustee, to which
each Employer may, in its discretion, contribute cash or other property, including securities issued by the Company, to provide
for the benefit payments under the Plan (the “Trust”).

16.2 Interrelationship of the Plan and the Trust.    The provisions of the Plan and the Plan Agreement shall govern the rights of a
Participant to receive distributions pursuant to the Plan. The provisions of the Trust shall govern the rights of the Employers,
Participants and the creditors of the Employers to the assets transferred to the Trust. Each Employer shall at all times remain
liable to carry out its obligations under the Plan.

16.3 Distributions From the Trust. Each Employer's obligations under the Plan may be satisfied with Trust assets distributed
pursuant to the terms of the Trust, and any such distribution shall reduce the Employer's obligations under this Plan.

ARTICLE 17     
Miscellaneous

17.1 Status of Plan. The Plan is intended to be a plan that is not qualified within the meaning of Code Section 401(a) and that “is
unfunded and is maintained by an employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a select group of
management or highly compensated employees” within the meaning of ERISA Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1). The
Plan shall be administered and interpreted (a) to the extent possible in a manner consistent with the intent described in the
preceding sentence, and (b) in accordance with Code Section 409A and related Treasury guidance and Regulations.

17.2 Unsecured General Creditor. Participants and their Beneficiaries, heirs, successors and assigns shall have no legal or
equitable rights, interests or claims in any property or assets of an Employer. For purposes of the payment of benefits under this
Plan, any and all of an Employer's assets shall be, and remain, the general, unpledged unrestricted assets of the Employer. An
Employer's obligation under the Plan shall be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise to pay money in the future.

17.3 Employer's Liability. An Employer's liability for the payment of benefits shall be defined only by the Plan and the Plan
Agreement, as entered into between the Employer and a Participant. An Employer shall have no obligation to a Participant
under the Plan except as expressly provided in the Plan and his or her Plan Agreement.



17.4 Nonassignability. Neither a Participant nor any other person shall have any right to commute, sell, assign, transfer, pledge,
anticipate, mortgage or otherwise encumber, transfer, hypothecate, alienate or convey in advance of actual receipt, the amounts,
if any, payable hereunder, or any part thereof, which are, and all rights to which are expressly declared to be, unassignable and
non- transferable. No part of the amounts payable shall, prior to actual payment, be subject to seizure, attachment, garnishment
or sequestration for the payment of any debts, judgments, alimony or separate maintenance owed by a Participant or any other
person, be transferable by operation of law in the event of a Participant's or any other person's bankruptcy or insolvency or be
transferable to a spouse as a result of a property settlement or otherwise.

17.5 Not a Contract of Employment. The terms and conditions of this Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract of
employment between any Employer and the Participant. Such employment is hereby acknowledged to be an “at will”
employment relationship that can be terminated at any time for any reason, or no reason, with or without cause, and with or
without notice, unless expressly provided in a written employment agreement. Nothing in this Plan shall be deemed to give a
Participant the right to be retained in the service of any Employer, either as an Employee or a Director, or to interfere with the
right of any Employer to discipline or discharge the Participant at any time.

17.6 Furnishing Information. A Participant or his or her Beneficiary will cooperate with the Committee by furnishing any and all
information requested by the Committee and take such other actions as may be requested in order to facilitate the administration
of the Plan and the payments of benefits hereunder, including but not limited to taking such physical examinations as the
Committee may deem necessary.

17.7 Terms. Whenever any words are used herein in the masculine, they shall be construed as though they were in the feminine in
all cases where they would so apply; and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or in the plural, they shall be
construed as though they were used in the plural or the singular, as the case may be, in all cases where they would so apply.

17.8 Captions. The captions of the articles, sections and paragraphs of this Plan are for convenience only and shall not control or
affect the meaning or construction of any of its provisions.

17.9 Governing Law. Subject to ERISA, the provisions of this Plan shall be construed and interpreted according to the internal
laws of the State of California without regard to its conflicts of laws principles.

17.10 Notice. Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to the Committee under this Plan shall be sufficient if in writing
and hand-delivered, or sent by registered or certified mail, to the address below:

DineEquity, Inc.

Attn: General Counsel

450 N. Brand Blvd.

Glendale, CA 91203

Such notice shall be deemed given as of the date of delivery or, if delivery is made by mail, as of the date shown on the
postmark on the receipt for registration or certification.

Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to a Participant under this Plan shall be sufficient if in writing and hand-
delivered, or sent by mail, to the last known address of the Participant

17.11 Successors. The provisions of this Plan shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Participant's Employer and its successors and
assigns and the Participant and the Participant's designated Beneficiaries.

17.12 Spouse's Interest. The interest in the benefits hereunder of a spouse of a Participant who has predeceased the Participant shall
automatically pass to the Participant and shall not be transferable by such spouse in any manner, including but not limited to
such spouse's will, nor shall such interest pass under the laws of intestate succession.

17.13 Validity. In case any provision of this Plan shall be illegal or invalid for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall not affect
the remaining parts hereof, but this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision had never been
inserted herein.



17.14 Incompetent. If the Committee determines in its discretion that a benefit under this Plan is to be paid to a minor, a person
declared incompetent or to a person incapable of handling the disposition of that person's property, the Committee may direct
payment of such benefit to the guardian, legal representative or person having the care and custody of such minor, incompetent
or incapable person. The Committee may require proof of minority, incompetence, incapacity or guardianship, as it may deem
appropriate prior to distribution of the benefit. Any payment of a benefit shall be a payment for the account of the Participant
and the Participant's Beneficiary, as the case may be, and shall be a complete discharge of any liability under the Plan for such
payment amount.

17.15 Domestic Relations Orders. If necessary to comply with a domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p)(1)(B),
pursuant to which a court has determined that a spouse or former spouse of a Participant has an interest in the Participant’s
benefits under the Plan, the Committee shall have the right to immediately distribute the spouse’s or former spouse’s interest in
the Participant’s benefits under the Plan to such spouse or former spouse.

17.16 Distribution in the Event of Income Inclusion Under Code Section 409A If any portion of a Participant’s Account Balance
under this Plan is required to be included in income by the Participant prior to receipt due to a failure of this Plan to comply
with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related Treasury Regulations, the Committee may determine that such
Participant shall receive a distribution from the Plan in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the portion of his or her Account
Balance required to be included in income as a result of the failure of the Plan to comply with the requirements of Code Section
409A and related Treasury Regulations, or (ii) the unpaid vested Account Balance.

17.17 Deduction Limitation on Benefit Payments. If an Employer reasonably anticipates that the Employer’s deduction with
respect to any distribution from this Plan would be limited or eliminated by application of Code Section 162(m), then to the
extent permitted by Treas. Reg. §1.409A-2(b)(7)(i), payment shall be delayed as deemed necessary to ensure that the entire
amount of any distribution from this Plan is deductible. Any amounts for which distribution is delayed pursuant to this Section
shall continue to be credited/debited with additional amounts in accordance with Section 3.6. The delayed amounts (and any
amounts credited thereon) shall be distributed to the Participant (or his or her Beneficiary in the event of the Participant’s death)
at the earliest date the Employer reasonably anticipates that the deduction of the payment of the amount will not be limited or
eliminated by application of Code Section 162(m). In the event that such date is determined to be after a Participant’s
Separation from Service and the Participant to whom the payment relates is determined to be a Specified Employee, then to the
extent deemed necessary to comply with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-3(i)(2), the delayed payment shall not made before the end of
the six-month period following such Participant’s Separation from Service.

Approved by the Compensation Committee on October 18, 2016

1



Exhibit 12.1

DINEEQUITY, INC.
Computation of Debt Service Coverage Ratio for the Trailing Twelve Months Ended September 30, 2016 and Leverage

Ratio as of September 30, 2016.
(In thousands, except ratios)

Leverage Ratio Calculation:  
Indebtedness, net (1) $ 1,304,691
Covenant Adjusted EBITDA(1) 282,843
Leverage Ratio 4.61

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) Calculation:  
Net Cash Flow (1) $ 300,470
Debt Service (1) 56,695
DSCR 5.30

(1) Definitions of all components used in calculating the above ratios are found in the Base Indenture and the related Series 2014-1 Supplement to the
Base Indenture, dated September 30, 2014, filed as Exhibits 4.1 and 4.2, respectively, to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2014.



Exhibit 31.1
 

Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended
 

I, Julia A. Stewart, certify that:
 
1.                                     I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc.;
 
2.                                     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                                     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
 

(a)                                Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)                                Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 1, 2016 /s/ Julia A. Stewart

 

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

Certification Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended
 

I, Thomas W. Emrey, certify that:
 
1.                                     I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc.;
 
2.                                     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                                     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
 

(a)                                Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)                                Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 1, 2016 /s/ Thomas W. Emrey

 
Thomas W. Emrey Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 1, 2016 (the “Report”), Julia A. Stewart, as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of her knowledge,
that:

 
(1)                     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
(2)                     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

Dated: November 1, 2016 /s/ Julia A. Stewart

 

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent

required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act except
to the extent the Company expressly and specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 1, 2016 (the “Report”), Thomas W. Emrey, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that:

 
(1)                     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
(2)                     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

Dated: November 1, 2016 /s/ Thomas W. Emrey

 

Thomas W. Emrey
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent

required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act except
to the extent the Company expressly and specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.
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